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Statement

This is an appeal from a judgment and order of
the Appelm“{e Division, First Department, which
tnanimously afiirmed a judgment of the Court of
General Sessions, New York County, convicting
the defendant of the erime of Cowsrmacy (Penal
Law, § 380) and of twelve separate erimes of Cox-
TRIVING, PPROPOSING OR Drawixng & Lorrery (Penal
Law, $ 1372}, after a trial hefore Novio Jo, and a
special jury. /

The trial court suspended sentence upon the
conspiracy count and Iimposed separafe sentences,

to run consecutiv a»f\* upon four of the substantive

counts {Second, mi Fourth, and Fifthy, each
‘l‘(')l‘ an iz‘(h* (’Z'Uli]iiil(‘ torm é“i"f 15'“!21 ane g wn
VeArs in \’ﬁdi(‘ prizon (H 411-31.%  The tofal term
thus imposed ageregated an i frinate period
of from é'nm' to eright vears.

* References are to {olios fn the o recard
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The Appellate Division wrote a per curiam
opinion (11573-85; 258 App. Div. 466).

Leave to appeal to this Court was granted by
Leumax, Ch. J. (11561-8).

Introduction

The first count of the indictment charges a con-
spiracy to commit erimes of policy, in violation
of section 974 of the Penal Law, and of contriving,
drawing, and proposing a lottery, in violation of
section 1372, The remaining twelve counts charge
substantive c¢rimes of contriving, proposing,
drawing, aud assisting in contriving, proposing,
and drawing a lottery, in violation of seetion 1372.

Nine defendants were originally aceused—
James J. Hines, J. Richard Davis, George Wein-
berg, Harry Schoenhaus, Martin Weintraub, and
four others who had not been apprehended at the
time of the trial. Davis, Weinberg, and Schoen-
haus pleaded guilty before the trial. Weintraub
was granted a separate trial and the case pro-
ceeded against Hines alone.

The evidence establishes that in the year 1931
a group of criminals, headed by the notorious
gangster Duteh Schultz, formed a Combination
to gain control of and operate various policy or
numbers game enterprises.! By 1832 the Com-
bination had conselidated these into a coordinated
business which operated a daily lottery vielding

an annual income of hundreds of thounsands of
dollars. It was in that vear that the defendant
5 known as the numbers

the words “policy™ and

PThe lottery here i
game. In the record, however

“numbers game™ are used indiscriminatelyv.




Hines joined the Combination. His principal con-
tribution to the conspiracy counsisted of obtaining
for his confederates a freedom from arrest, and
a virtual immunity from conviction, for crimes
which they were then committineg and which he
knew they would continue to commit. In addi-
tion, he performed other acts which aided and
abetted the operation and econduct of the eriminal
enterprise. The Combination continued——with the
defendant as one of its niembers—until the fall
of 1936. ‘

THE FACTS

As was noted by the Appellate Division in its
opinion, the defendant concedes that the evi-
dence constituted him a member of the conspiracy
(11575-6; 258 App. Div,, at p. 467):

“The concession of appellant’s  eounsel
that ‘unquestionably, the testimony was suffi-
clent prima facie to establish that ap-
pellant was a member of the conspiracy to
commit the crimes chiarged, as alleged in
the indictment,” renders unnecessary any ex-
tended review of the evidence. Indeed, an
examination of the record and briefs leads
to the conclusion that it would have been
futile for counsel otherwise to contend. Ques-
tions of law only, therefore, need bhe con-
sidered.”’

However, the questions of Inw raised ean
only be consideved against the background of the
facts presented by the record. In the following
pages the People seck to set forth—as hriefly as
possible—a resumé of the proof and thus present
an accurate pieture of the eriminal enterprise
which the defendant Hines and his accomiplices
conspired fo, and did, earry on. |




Persons mentioned in testimony

Arrinvr Frrcevaeiver alias Duren Scmunrz
alias the Durernmvrax: Chareed in the indietment
as conspirator; a notorious eriminal who assumed
control and leadership of wvarious numbers
“banks’” and welded them into one racket having
its headquarters in New York County; killed in

October, 1935.

J. Ricwanp Davis: Defendant; pleaded guilty
and testified as witness for People; acted as at-

torney for Combination; was intimate with both

defendant Tlines and Sehultz, frequently acting
as contact man between them.

George Weinserg: Defendant; pleaded guilty
and testified as wituess for People at the first
trial; committed suicide after the commencement
of the second trial, making it necessary to read
into evidence the testimony he had previously
given; was general manager of the Combination,
loocked after its financial details, and served as
one of the contact men between defendant Hines
and Schultz.

Harry ScHopnuAUS alias Bie Harry: Defend-
ant; pleaded guilty and testified as witness for
People; had charge of books and records for Com-
bination under (George Weinberg's diveetion; oc-
astonally made pavments of money for the Com-
hination to defendant Hines,

Jouy Cooxey alins Joun Sveuns: Son Gmsem
alias Sorny; and Harry Worr alias Lrvree Hanny:
Defendants; not apprehended at time of trial;

=N

members of Combination, performing miscella-
neous duties in furtherance of conspiraey.

..




MarTin Werntravs alias Mor Wentraun: De-
fendant, granted a trial separate from defend-
ant Hines; appﬂnod in court and tried policy
caxes for Combination as employee of Davis
(4881-9).

Apramay Wreinsese alias Bo Waivsere: De-
fondant, not apprehended; one of Schultz’ prin-
cipal aides who acted as “trigger man’’ for
Schultz gang and ‘“strong arm man’’ for the Com-
bination (1201-3, 1676-7, 1692, 3527); probably
killed about the same time as Schu}tz (2153, 4659).

Brrnarp Rosexcraxz alias Loru RosENcranz:
Chareed in indictment as conspirator; acted as
chauffenr and bodveuard for Schultz (2226, 4841,
4913) ; assisted in various jobs for Combination;
killed with Sehultz.

Orro Bruaax alins Aspapasa alias Havasacx:
Charged in indietment as conspirator; official
handicapper at race track in Cineinnatti (2770-
1) ; attended to rigging of pari-mutuel ficures for
Combination (2787-9); killed with Schultz

Lovis Kocu: Congpirator not specifically
chareed in indietment; acted as bondsman for

A O

Combination (1733, 2355, 2053, 2559).
¥

WILFRED Bmwrm“ Marcrsr, Frones; Josepn
W ariinas Isox alias Bia Jor; Massor Josepi IsoN
alins Lrrree Jor: Braer Mavoxey; Eo Mavowey;
bankers loeated in Harlem; brought into
nation by Schultz

Hexny Mmo: and Avexaxnan Poypez: I\Iumb-\*;'%

ooy Carstiaw: Fraxk Krwing and Winniane
Coprraxd Dopei: Judicial officers who, at Hines’
request, conducted themselves in such n way as
fo give members of the conspiracy a profection
from prosccution.




Jacx Prusxzrr: Friend and intimate of de-
fendant Hines; acted as ome of his chief lieu-
tenants at IHines’ political eclub (2611, 3686-7,
4869, 4871).

Ep Horiey: Friend and intimate of defendant
Hines; performed various errands for defendant,
including payment of racing bets (4869, 4028-31,
6219).

“Policy’’ or the ‘‘Numbers Game"’

At the trial, witnesses explained the numbers
game in some detail. It was, in brief, a game in
which the player might ““take a chance’’ that a
number chosen by himself would be sclected as
the winning number. The game was operated
daily by persons known as collectors, controllers
and bankers.

The player chose a number from 000 to 999
and wrote it on a piece of paper, called a poliev
slip, which he handed to a colleetor (663-4). Since
the players were drawn mainly from the poorer
classes in Harlem, the plays, though not limited
in size, usuallv amounted to only a few cents
(652). Collectors were either professionals with
no other eccupation, or store keepers, elevator
operators, and other persons engaved in occupa-
tions entailing contact with larse numbers of
people (651, 661-3). At a fixed time of the day, the
collector, retaining the money, turned over all
the slips to a pick-up man, whoe brought them fo
a ““drop station” maintained by his cmplever,
the controller (696, 695). From there they were
taken to the “*bank "—in the nature of

Wy eny
a ¢eldaring

Y

house—-by an acent of the hanker (7
they were sorted and the balanees due o or from
the collectors were computed.

.

LS

G320, where
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The eollectors retained possession of the money
until after the result of the day’s plays became
known (729-35). They then settled, net with
the controllers, who, in turn, settled, net, wwith
the bankers.

The winning number was selected, or drawn,
every day except Sundays and legal holidays
(4476-7), by adding together certain pari-mutuel
race track figures (656-7). The respeetive amounts
paid on two dollar pari-mutuel tickets purchased
on horses finishing fivst, second, and third in each
of the first three races were added together, and
the numeral immediately to the left of the decimal
point in the total figure furnished the first digit of
the winning number. The second digit was deter-
mined by applying the same procedure to the first
five races; and the third, by using the entire seven
races as a basis (672-89; Peo’s xh. 2, p. 3810).°

“The following table is illustrative:
Race Tracx Rusvrrs

First Race

Stagehand (firsty o.o.. ... S8.20  $400 0 $540

Esquire (second) ..., 6.00 4.30

Oceult (third) ..ot 4.20
Aggregate amounts paid. ..o 3070
il

Fourth Race (aggregate amounts paid)
{a

Fifth Kace {aggregate amounts paid}

Strth Kace {aggregate amounts paid). oL

LAY I e ey e ey - P AP

Seventl Nace (aggregate amounts pud)... ..

SR ey mmyThee o 1
[ARREA NG nurnay, oo [SERE!

Tooaveveerd 1 s PN L0
Lrnad poant i eadh of 1




Since only one number between 000 and 959 was
drawn each day, a number chosen by a player
had but one chance in a thousand to win; the win-
ner was pmd however, at the ratio of urﬂv 600 to
1 (665-6, 690).

Schulty’ formation of the Combination

In 1931, a goodly portion of the numbers busi-
ness was in the hamh of five independent com-
peting banks which were doing a combined busi-
ness of about $35,000 a day (2448-9). These were
conducted by Alexander Pompez, Joseph Ison,
Henry Miro, Marcial Flores, and Elmer Maloneyv,
A number of other bankers, including Wilfred
Brunder and Harry Schoenhaus, were also active
at about the same time.

In that vear, Dutch Schultz decided to gain
control of these lucrative ventures. There is no
need to detail the testimony as to the means he
emploved to accomplizh his purpose. Suffice it

to say that, by means of threats and violence,

Schultz obfained absolute vonirel over each of
these banks and placed hix own men in charge
(1200-2, 1204-6, 1220-1, 1226, 2240-1, 2244, 2218.9,
2227-30, 1665-1712, 1713-6, 22523, $462.77,

The entire enterprise was ecentralized with
George Weinberg as eeneral manaver for the
Combination, in charge of the headquarters set
up at 351 Lenox Avenne f:i‘;l.“}*} 4. E{wé ard
Davis was delegated the Coml

'S]
to manage the enormous legal and

$al u‘;

peets of its eriminal husiness (8321
was placed In ehavoe of paving the
arrested; and Louis Koch was appointed I

man who, with a number of assistant=. was 1o

available at all times to bail out those take
custody.
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Schultz, in addition to borrowing considerable
sums of money and collecting large amounts
labeled “*expenses,”” drew $4,000 a week from the
profits (2439, 2469, 4449,

Although the daily net intake had grown to
$45,000 by the fall of 1932 (4457-8), the leaders
were not satisfied.  They contrived a scheme
wherchy the profits wmight be still further -
creased through rigging of the pari-mutuel figures
upon which the pay-offs were based (2762-D).
This involved control of the third or final digit
so that no heavily played number would be hit.
The Combination paid Otto Berman, known as
< Abadaba,” $10,000 a week to manipulate the
odds on the last race in such a way as to achieve
this end (1785-9, 2793, 4500-4, 4509-17).

The Combination thus organized by Schultz in
the vear 1931 eontinued to operate until about
October of 1936, Schultz himself maintained ac-
tive control until his murder in 1835, when the
leadership passed—without any interruption in
the operation of the conspiracy—to two of his
partuers commonly referred to as the “Italians™
(4698-4700).

The defendant Hines’ entry into the Combination

b

As the number of individual bankers—foreed in
by Sehultz’ strong-nrm methods—inereased, and
as their activities became more centralized, the
Combination grew more conspicuous and its oper-
ations grew correspondingly more vulnerable to
attack by law enforcement anthorities. It there-
fore beeame essential to the continued growth
and profit of the enterprisze that some means be
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found to provide immunity from such attack.
As Schultz himself expressed it (2136):
“1 could arm [force] these different bank-
ers in, but T ean’t proteet them in the courts,
or protect them from the police making ar-
rests.”’

The defendant Hines was chosen to furnish this
proteetion.

Aceordingly, in April, 1932, Schultz arranged
a conference, attended hy hnn and three of his
licutenants-—Bo Weinberg, George Weinberg, and
Lulu Rosencranz—to which Hines was invited
(2127-8). At this conference Weinberg described
the operation of the Combinatien and pointed
out the damaging consequences that followed a
aid on a bank or the arvest of one of the Com-
bination’s higher-ups (2137-40, 2142-4). Thus,
he explained to Hines (2137):

‘““in order to be able to run our business and
bring it up the right way, we would have
to protect the controllers that are working
for us, all the people working for us, protect
them”’

and (2138):

““We would have to protect them from go-
mg to jail, and if we got any big &Yl{:‘thy

that would hurt our L)U%Hlé%b we would w ant
them dismissed in the Maggz.s’cr ates® Courts

so that they shouldn’t have to go downtown
ltl\) }\nw»;-:] Sogeiong l ¥k

sTe B A"

3 ":\1

He also stated that they were not concerned

with the small arvests of the

on the street” ‘"139 but with the large ones
=

‘““Such as bank or big controllers, or a hig drop

station” (2140). As Weinberg said (2139):

1, - PUCL U B PR S ome
raanary collectors

‘we would want to have them dismissed in
the Magistrates’ Couart, to show the people
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in Harlem there that are working for us that
we had the right kind of protection up there,
and that we could protect them from going
to jail.”’

Hines agreed to join the criminal conspiracy.
He promised to use his influence in the Police
Department to reduce as much as possible the
danger of arrest of the Schultz mobsters, of
the bankers, and of the large controllers asso-
ciated with them (2137-8). Hines asserted that
while he did not “*control the Police Department
* o« = ho still would be able to do quite a lot”’
(2143) and, more specifically, said that ‘‘he
thought he could handle’ the Sixth Division
<0, K. (2143-4). This Division supervised po-
lice activities in Harlem, where the numbers game
was largely played. IIe agreed, with even more
assurance, that, if there were a slip-up and an
arvest oceurred, he would set everything right
by having the ease thrown out in the Magistrates’
Court (2137-40, 2142-50).

ines knew full well, of eourse, what his par-
ticipation in the eriminal enterprise would achieve.
Weinbery expressly told him that the members
of the Combination would be able to commit
erimes with impunity and would shortly be in a
position to “‘control all the husiness in Harlem”
it they had *“the right protection® (2144). Thus,
Weinbere testified (2144-3)%

(). Was anvthing said about the effect of
cetting new business? Al Well, we thought
if we had the right protection, to prove to
the people working for us that we had the
rieht protection, it would help us build our
business; we would be able to control all
the business in Harlem at the time.

* x b3
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“Q. What else was said? A. Well, then
I also explained to him [Hines] that we
were going around there wide open our-
selves and that we wanted to be protected
against being picked up.

“Q. Now, did you explain what you meant
by ‘we’? A. Well, myself and whoever else
was helping me in running the bmmeb&,, in
fact, all of Schultz’s mob. 2

And Hines assured them of his support, saying
(2146) :

““he would take care of that, not to worry
about it.”’

In addition to this promise of active serviee in
their behalf, Hines readily acceded to their use
of his name whenever expedient or necessary.
Thus, Weinberg testified (2147-8):

““I asked him if T could use his name and
he said I could.

# ¥ *

““And he said I could use it wherever T
thought necessary, where I might need 1t.”’

Payments made to the defendant Hines by the
- Combination

This engagement on the part of Hines was not
limited to any definite period; he had, it apg}mrsd,
signed up for the duration of the conspiracy.
His participation was bought at a handsome price,
considering that those were depression years, for
he was to receive a regular ;mvmmf of from
$500 to $1,000 a week. The fivst of those pay-
ments was made by Schultz at the very confer-
ence to whieh we have referred (2146-7

These weekly payments continued for several
years—until October of 1936. Tt will be neted,
however, that sometime in 1935, the pavments
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were reduced to an amount ranging from $250
to $500 a week and remained at this figure until
the end (2818-20).

The payments to Hines were entered on the
books of the Combination as regular payroll ex-
penses, first under the heading of ““J. H.”” and
then by the entry ““Pop’’ (2437, 4451-2)., That
Hines received these payments is borne out not
only by the testimony of the several accomplices,
but also by independent non-accomplice evidence
(5611 Deft’s Exh, AA, p. 3837; 5777, 5781, 5914-

22, 6214-20).

Resume of acts performed by the defendant Hines
in furtherance of the conspiracy

Following his entry into the conspiracy, Hines
performed a number of acts which aided and
assisted in the commission of the crimes contem-
plated by that conspiraey.

He took part in setting up the Combination’s
central headquarters at 351 Lenox Avenue for, as
Schultz advised Weinberg, the headquarters were
not to be opened until Hines' approval had been
procured (2352-61; iifra. pp. 14-15).

Hines sought to arrange the removal of the
C‘ombix ation's banks to Mount Vernon at a time

‘hen the New York police were making particular
eﬁ‘orfs to close the banks located in New York
(2604-22; tufra, pp. 14-13).

Hines prevented the arrest of these associated
with him in the conspiracy by providing for the
transfor of }miivo officers who were efficiently
performing their daties (infra. m;. 15-20).

Hines prevented effective prosceution in the
magxs‘naw s’ court of those a.s,m(*m!‘ed with him
in the conspiracy by influencing two magistrates
to dismiss cases before them (infra, pp. 21-36).




Hines sponsored, selected and financed the cam-
‘paign of the successful candidate for election to
the office of distriet attorney of New York County
in 1933, and thereafter prevented serious investi-
gation by the distriet attorney’s office into his
own activities and the activities of those asso-

ciated with him in the conspivaey (iufra, pp. 36-
40).

Hines sought to prevent the appointment of a
special prosecutor, because it scemed likely that
such appointment would lead to effective eriminal
investigation of himself and those associated with
him 1n the conspivacy {(infra, pp. 40-41),

. The defendant Hines’ assistance in opening the
Combination’s headquarters and in attempting to
have the Combination’s banks moved to Mount
Vernon.

In 1932, when the Combination was anxiocus to
advertise its political power and its immunity
from arvest, Schultz decided to open a central
headquarters at 351 Lenox Avenue. Before this
plan was exeeuted, it was submitted to, and ap-
proved by, the defendant Hines (2332-61).

Later, in 1933, when police activity in New
York County made it advisable to move the bank-
ing activitiecs of the Combination elsewhere,
Hines was again eousulted. The banks went to
Mount Vernon, where they vemained for about fen
months,  In Jannary of 1934, when the authori-
ties of Mount Vernon declined to p(*rmi’f the hanks
to continue, and a drive in New York Ciivowas
imminent (4932), Hives' ald was ouee move one
listed to the end that the banks might relocate

1o
in Mount Vernon (26043, 2732), However, the
aunthorities of that city proved adamant, and

.
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Hines’ efforts met with failure (2622, 2733, 3980).
The testimony of Weinberg and Davis concern-
ing the above transactions and negotiations was
fully corroborated by the testimony of the mayor
of Mount Vernon (3708 ¢t seq.) and of a sub-
stantial busitess man in the Bronx, named Jack
Kearns (3682 ¢f seq.).

The protection afforded to the Combination by the
defendant Hines
As indicated, Hines did his utmost to protect
his fellow conspirators from being arrested or
prosecuted.

Protection from arrests

General charge of gambling arrests was in the
hands of plain clothes policemen. Those whose
jurisdiction especially aifected the prinecipal areas
involved in the case at bar were (1) the Sixth
Division with primary jurisdiction, (2) the Bor-
ough Headquarters Squad, which had charge of
the whole Borough of Manhattan, and (3) the
Chief Inspector’s Squad, operating out of Po-
lice Headquarters, with jurisdiction over the
whole city.

1, The Sixth Division

As soon as the Combination began its opera-
tions, Weinberg mformed lines that the Sixth
Division was proving troublesome and that some-
thing had to be done to eurtail its activities (2372).
Hines told Weinberg that he thought he could
handle that Division (2142).

Prior to this talk, the Division had been re-
sponsible for about {wenty gawbling arrests a
day (2380). Thereafter the avrests dropped to
eight and, at times, four a dav (2381). On sev-
eral subsequent occasions when the arrests in-

O
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eased, Weinberg spoke to Hines (2397). In each
mbtanm, Hines plonubed to do something about
it, and, immediately, the arrests again decreased
to four or five a day (2398-9). By the fall Of
1932, the Sixth Division wnresented no furthe:
pzobi em: 1t had ceased to trouble the Combination
or its members (2400-1).

2. Borough Headguarters Squad

Terminelli, a plainclothesman attached to the
Borough Headquarters Squad-—which had juris-
diction over Manhattan—began to take an annoy-
ing interest in the Combination’s activities. When
in the fall of 1932 he visited the Combination’s
headgunarters at 351 Lenox Avenue and sought fo
search Weinberg’s desk, the latter warned him
that if he dared to interfere, he, Weinberg, would
see Hines and have Terminelli transferred from
the Squad. Terminelli replied (2496):

“I don’t care about you or Hinm, I hme

got work to do aud I am golng to do it

The police officer persisted.  Continuing to cheek
up on the stores used by the Cembination, he re-
ceived additional threats from Weinberg (2449,
2501). Finally, when he arrested one of the Com-
bination’s men (‘"’605-6) Weinberg saw Hines.
He told him that if something were not done, if
Terminelli were not transferred, the ”mnbmcm«m
A,

znmii;ﬂwiy {2508 ),

Within fovrtv-eight hours, Te vas trans

3 . N £ e 4 I g PR 1 PP U A .

fOHM from the Squad and placed back into uni
N .

orm (2500-10), This wax &«mm ai houeh his vee

ord for anm *xi
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his Squad—as former Police Commissioner Bolan
was forced to admit upon his eross-examination
(7311-22).

No further activities of the Borough Head-
quarters Squad ever troubled the Combination.

3. Kiley and Maher

Two officers of the Broadway Squad, named
Kiley and Maher, had been instructed to follow,
and to search for weapons, any members of the
Schultz gang seen in their district (5735). They
carried out their instructions with such diligence
that in December, 1933, Marty Krompier—a
Sehultz henchman substituting for the absent Bo
Weinberg in the latter’s supervisory capacity—
threatened to *‘take cave of**them (5745). When
Hines was informed about these men, he promised
to take care of them (4948-9).

Two days later, Kiley and Maher were trans-
ferred out of the district to aunother command
(4949, 5746).

4. Chief Inspector’s Squad

However, the unit that most seriously inter-
fered with the activities of the Combination was
the Chief Inspector's Squad under Captain Ben-
nett. TIts members made repeated major arrests
of the Combination’s emplovees. Weinberg, in-
tensely annoved, took up the matter of their re-
moval with Hines (2565). Although he tried to
arrange the transfer of some ot the men (2363),
Hines accomplished nothing for some time.

Sergeant Gray and Officers Canavan, Stilley,
and MeCarthy had proved particularly trouble-
some to the Combination. Some of them had
raided a bank of the Combination and arvested
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Weinberg himself-—under the name of IKlein—to-
gether with fourteen others. Gray was in charge
of a raid on Flores” and Ison’s banks and was
responsible for arresting t\\'onty-szx more of the
Combination’s employvees. MeceCarthy, with an-
other officer, had arrested Schultz’ bodyguard,
Lulu Rosencranz.

After these arrests, Hines promised and ar-
anged to have those cases dismissed in the mag-
istrates’ court. This phase of his activities is
treated at greater length lereatter (infrae, pp.
21-36). Although the outcome thus engineered
by Hines was favorable, the raids and arrests
by Gray, Canavan, Stilley, and McCarthy were
a source of irritation to the Combination, and
Hines was continuously opportuned to have those
men removed to some other Squad (2645, 2648-
51). Upon the appointment of Bolan as Police
Commissioner, Hines promised to get rid of the
whole Sguad (2060). Thereafter, on Qctober 5,
1933, an order was issued directing the transfer of
five men (2632, 4063). A few days later, another
order was put through, calling specifically for
the transfer of Gray, Canavan and Stilley—
procedure hitherto unknown in the Dopartmeui
(4213-6). The Squad was thus reduced from its
original number of sixteen to eight (4079).

The Combination had nothing more to fear
from that unit.

Other witnesses Les.l es Weinbere and Davis
testified to these transfers. John F. Curry, the
leader of Tammany Hall durin;: the time covered
by the conspiracy, deseribed the methods that
Hines and the other district leaders emploved to
accomplish police transfers (1263, 4270-81, 4349).

Detective (lanavan told of the threats made by
Weinberg and other members of the Combination
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to have him transferred and demoted (3902, 3904,
3908), of his subsequent transfer, and of the sur-
rounding circumstances (3909-10).

Captain Bennett and former Chief Inspector
O’Brien also testificd concerning the general or-
der reducing the Chief Inspector’s Squad, and the
unprecedented ovder calling for the specifie re-
moval of Sergeant Grav and Patrolnen Canavan
and Stilley, despite their efficient work and ex-

v ey

emplary conduct (4166-73):

Q. Prior to that time five men had been
transferred out of that squad, had they not?
A. That is right.

“Q. You hadn't the slightest complaint
against their efficiency, integrity or anything
about their work, had vou? * * * A. 1 did
not.

Q. Now, on this date, about a week or ten
days later, vou say Commissioner Bolan gave
you some more orders. Again tell us what
that order was. A. Well, the order—in fact,
it was not an order: he gave me the names of
three men * * *, [4166-7]

¥* * *
The Court: Did he tell you what to do?
The Witness: e told me that he wanted
them transferred. [4170]
B * *
“By Mr. Dewey:

“Q. Did he tell you that he wanted {hose
three men transferred out of the squad? A,
That is right.

Q. [Who were] Those three men
that he gave vou the names of T A, Sergeant
Gray * " "

cer A (Canavan, and a man by the name
of Stilley.

Q. Did vou have any complaint about the
work of those men? A. No, siv, T did not.

W*
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“Q. Did you have any complaint about
their efficiency? * * * A. I did not.

“Q. Did you have any complaint about
their integrity? A. I did not. [4172-3}1*’

Another detective by the name of Salke had
also bothered Schultz and the Combination.
Weinberg spoke to Hines about him, urging that
‘““‘he should get Salke put back in a uniform”’
(2658). Deputy Police Commissioner Lyons sub-
stantiated that account. He testified that he had
received an order for the transfer of Detective
Salke, but that its execution had been effectively
blocked by the United States Attorney for the
Southern District of New York (6062-4).

In order to rebut any possible inference that
the transfers might have been the result of normal
police routine and not of Hines’ intervention, it
was shown that the officers transferred had been
performing satisfactory servieces and that the
transfers had been made against the wishes of
their immediate superiors (4060-1, 4166-7, 4173,
6064-5). As a matter of fact, as we have already
noted, former Police Commissioner Bolan who,
as Borough Commander, was Terminelli’s imme-
diate superior, admitted that Terminelli’s record
for arrests, immediately prior to his transfer, had
been among the highest of any on his Squad
(7311-22).

Protection from prosecution in the magistrates’
court

When Hines joined the conspiracy, he assured
Schultz and Weinberg that he eould handle
cases in the magistrates® courts, and he aereed
to engineer dismissals if the need avose. This

was no idle hoast. We have alveady referved to
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three occasions when important arrests were
made by the Chief Inspector’s Squad; as a matter
of fact, these were the only important arrests af-
fecting the Combination in the five year period
embraced by the conspiracy. In each Instance,
Hines spoke to the magistrate and assured Wein-
berg and Davis of a certain dismissal—and, just
as he predicted, each of the three cases was dis-
missed. We discnss these cases separately.

1. November, 1932—Discharge of Weinberg and
fourteen other defendants by Magistrate Capshaw
On Thanksgiving Eve of 1932, Sergeant Gray,
together with police officers Magnus and Canavan,
conducted a raid on the Pompez bank (2523).
Fifteen employees, including George Welnberg,
who gave the name of Klein, were arrested (2531).
Weinberg immediately communicated with
Davis and told him (4886):

“I am going to get in touch with Jimmy
[Hines], to see if he can help us in getling
the thlng thrown out.””

Davis read the Magistrates' Court complaint in
Weinberg’s presence and then advised him that
an iron-clad case was made out and that (4887):

“1 don’t see how any Judge is going to
throw this case out * * *.”’

Weinberg, however, knew what to do. Ile again
informed Davis (4887):

“I am going o see Jimmy, it must be

done.”’
The case was postponed (2041, 4888) and Wein-
berg spoke to Hines (2538). Weinbery stressed

the need for a dismissal of the case, saving
253K Q)




““this was one pinch, one of the big pinches
that we would have to throw out in the Mag-
istrate’s Court.
% # *

€6 ¢ And if we don’t throw it out, that would
surely prove that we didn’t have the right
0. K. to go uap there.” First we get the
pinch from the cops and then we can’t throw
it out.”’

i

ueht, IHines

After giving the matter some tho
\(11({ (_L)()g)
“See if vou ecan have that postponed
until it gets to Magistrate Capshaw.”’
When Weinberg expressed some doubt as to
the seclection, Hines assured him that Cap-
shaw was the man, that he was one judge who
would do his, Hines’, bidding. Thus, Hines re-
plied (2540):
“If T didn't think he was O, K, I wouldn 't
teil you to get in front of him,”’

adding (2540) .

“And when you get it postponed, you
can get 1t pm’t}mnod. in front of hing and vou
an let me know.””’

¢

Weinberg reported Hines?
(2541). Accordingly, the case was adjourned in
order to have it come on hefore Magistrate Cap-
shaw (4888 Peo’s Fxh, 30, pp. 2017, 3226). Be-
fore it had been veached, Hines and Weinberg
met Capshaw at the Keating Democeratie Clhah,
focated on Amsterdam Avenue and 126th Street.
Hines mentioned the matter to Judze Capshaw,
saving (M)si-&} :

imstructions o Davis

;v

S S NV Tt g won §owtareie buy { {
Lohave a poiey ease, a very nnporiant

a
case.  Would vou he able te handie it for
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me, a case coming up before you, and 1 would
like you to take care of it for me,”’
and further stressed its importance (2546-7):

“PBut it is very important that this case
should be taken care of. 1 am very much
interested in 1t.”’ ‘

Clapshaw’s reply was brief, but very clear (2547) :

will take

et

“1 haven’t failed vou yet.
care of it.”’

As planned, the case, which merely charged the
defendants with possession of poliey slips, was
heard by Magistrate Capsbaw on Deecember 9,
1932, At the hearing before Capshaw, the officers
testified to the faets of the raid. There had been
literally hundreds of thousands of poliey slips in
the premises. Seven or eight defendants were en-
gaged in sorting them, while six or seven other
defendants were in an adjoining room, operating
adding machines {5940-6, 5954). There were addi-
tional piles of poliey slips next to the machines
(H946).

Weinberg had confessed to one of the officers,
(Canavan, that ““you have one of the biggest banks
in Harlem® (5965). Weinberg and another de-
fendant had elaimed that they were there to fix
the adding machines, but they had ne tools or
other implements for such purpese (5963). All
of the others had admitted that they had been
working in the bank (5940, 5950, 5865-6, 5891).
Every one of the defendants had keyvs for the
apartment (3966). Several bags containing about
200,000 poliey slips were found in the apartment

AH943). Weinberg had a key for them: when one

v

£ the officers prepared 1o rin one onel R H RS
o1 11¢ offeers preparca o rip obe 0peh, Wamnoery




handed him the key, asking him not to destroy the
bag (5967).

Further proof of Weinberg’s criminal com-
plicity was his almost ineredible audacity in ap-
proaching Detectives Canavan and Magnus in the
corridor during onc of the adjournments to ask
them for permission to look at the paxv-off sheets,
which they were holding as evidence, so that the
““hits”’ could be paid off (5967-9). Thus, Canavan
testified before Magistrate Capshaw that Wein-
berg said to him (5969) :

“Is there any chance to look at those

sheets? We have to know how much we have
to pay out on the hit numbers.””

After hearing the foregoing testimonyv. Magis-
trate Capshaw discharged Weinberg and his co-
defendants, on the ground that no prima facic
case had been established, and this conclusion
was reached in spite of the fact that—as Cap-
shaw himself admitted on the stand in the instant
case—Nhe was known asg a “tough judge™ in policy
cases, having dismissed only forty out of the
nineteen hundred such cases that had been be-
fore him (8671-3).

Magistrate Capshaw, called as a witness for the
defense in the present case, attempted to justif
the dismissals on the f_rmund that he had not
believed the officers. It iz unneceszary to review
his entire testimony : several instances will suffice
to illustrate the absurdity of his efforts ta avoeid
thie effect of the testimony of Davis and Weinhere

; 1, ey de -~ - 13 .o
that the case was thrown out as a divect result

6
}.

et

of hns tatk with, and promise to, Hines, 1is ered-

ibilitv was, we submit, completely t?mzzm ed by
testimony he gave dealing

the ¢ with his alleged
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reasons for dismissing the case; we mention a
few of those reasons.

First: Officer Canavan had testified before
Magistrate Capshaw that Weinberg had admitted
to him that the raid had caught ‘“one of the big-
gest policy banks in Harlem.”” Yet Magistrate
(‘apshaw gave the following testimony on cross-
examination (8492-3):

“Q. You knew it was a poliey bank, didn’t
you? A. I did not.

“Q. You mean, you thought it was some-
thing other than a policy bank? A. T didn’t
know what a policy bank wa

Second : He criticized the officers for testifying
that the defendants, whom they had arrested, had
admitted that they “worked’’ at the bank, claim-
ine that the use of the word ““worked,”” without
further explanation of what the term signified,
was suspicious (8507-10). The magistrate ad-
mitted that the officers “*said the defendants said
they worked there’ (8511), hut asserted he
wanted them to add something to that testimony
(8514-7). Judge Nott himseltf was moved to ask
the witness (8515):

“Q. Now, how could the officers explain
to vou what the defendants meant by that?
A. Well, the officers could explain to me what
they saw, and what

“Q). That is not answering my question
at all. How could the officers explain to you
what the defendants meant when the defend-
ants said they worked there? A, They could
tell me what else in councetion with work
the defendants said and what they saw, vour
Honor.”’

Third: The magisirate really distrusted the
oficers then, he said, beeause they had asked the
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defendants whether they ““worked’’ at the bank,
instead of asking them whether they had handled
the policy slips (8519-20, 8523). The rcecord of
the magistrate’s hearing shows clearly, how-
ever, that this was a fabrication on the part of
the magistrate: both Magnus and Canavan had
asked cach of the defendants at the time of their
arrest whether they ‘“handled the slips’ (5947,
2989).

Fourth: Magistrate Capshaw further attempted
to justify himself by charging that the police had
not asked the defendants whether they ““owned””’
the slips (5828), protesting that he did not know
that “the man who works in a policy bank does
not own slips” (8528). The question was, of
course, Immaterial, vet it appeared that, at the
hearving before him, the officers had testified that
they had asked those arvested “‘whose slips they
were’’ (5969, 6989). The magistrate, however,
still insisted that his disbelief of the officers
sprang from their failure to use the apparently
magic word ‘“‘ownership.”” Thus, he testified
(8538-9) :

Q. It appears now that Canavan asked
the question. You said they were dishelieved
because theyv did not ask? A, e did not say
anvihing about ownership. He said whose
they were, which would be a little different.”’

Fifth: Magistrate Capshaw also asserted that
he disbelieved Canavan because Gray had not
testified that Canavan had told Lim that Wein-
berg stated that he had raided one of the largest
poliey banks in Harlem. Judge Nott, again im-
pelled to take part in the questioning, asked Cap-
shaw (8624-3):




““You thought that Gray ought to have told
vou what Canavan told him about what the
defendants told Canavan; is that 1t?”’

And the magistrate replied (8625):
‘(Yes b
As Judge Nott justly remarked (8623):
““That is hearsay, isn’t it? It would have

been a hearsay statement. If the defendant’s
counsel had objected to it it would not have
been admissible * * *7”’

Sixth: Perhaps the most obvious example of
Capshaw’s anxiety to create cx post facto justifi-
cation for his conduet is found in his absurd sug-
gestion that the defendants might have been
working in this policy bank as cooks or waiters
(7479, 7621, 8579). He was quickly forced, how-
ever, to admit that it appeared tfrom the evidence
that there were only two cups and a few slices
of one pie in the apartment (8561-70). Finally,
he fell back upon the alternative suggestion that
they might have been there for a social visit
(8581-2) or might have “dropped in there to see
somebody else’’ (8582).

2. December, 1932—Discharge of the Flores and
Ison bank defendants by Magistrate Erwin

On December 22, 1932, there was another raid,
also conducted by-the Chief Inspector’s Squad,
but this time on banks managed by Ison and
Flores. Sergeant Gray was again in charge (2555-
6). Twenty-six persons working in two banks
situated in a single apartment were arrested
(1040).

Once again the matter was brought to Hines’
attention. Both Davis and Weinberg went to see
him and asked him to have the case dismissed in




the magistrates’ court (2562). Weinberg told
him that this was the second big raid and that
(2562) :
“if we throw this out, that will prove to
everybody that we really have the right O. K,
that nobody can annoy us.’’
And Hines replied (2562):
“Well, I couldn’t—even if I eould get in
front of him, I couldn’t give it to Capshaw,
as he has just thrown out this big one.
¢ * * 1 will have to think who to give it
to, and I will straighten that out [with]
Dick.”

~ Davis spoke to Hines about ‘‘what could be
done in order to have the case thrown out of
court” (4893), and later lHines told him (4894-5):
““that we would have to adjourn the ease, tfor
me [Davis] to find out who is sitting there.”
When advised that Magistrate Erwin was to pre-
side, Hines directed Davis (4893) :
““Adjourn it before him and I will talk to
him.”’
Hines later informed Davis that he had seen the
magistrate and had arranged everything., Davis
testified (4897):
“‘he told me that he saw Judge Erwin, and

to try the case before him, that the thing
would be okay.”

Magistrate Erwin heard the case and dismissed

A0NOY

it (1135, 4898).

The charge, as in the other ease, was the simple
one of possessing polieyv slips. In spite of that,
a reading of the record of the proceedings dis-
closes that the magistrate was intent upon devel-




oping the fact that no poliey slips had been col-
leceted, sold, or offered for sale on the prennses.
The defendants were seated at a long table
upon which there was “*a very large quantity”’
of poliey slips (1034 ¢f ~cq.).  Nevertheless, the
magisirate took the extromely hizavre view that
the admisstons made by the defendants that they
had been sorfing shps and had thevefore been in
possession of them, were of no avail, since ““the
corpus of the crime—whatever that might be——
bad not been proved.  Thus, =aid Magistrate
Erwin, in excluding these admiszions (1046) :

““His admissions are of no avail to the
People unless you prove the corpus of the
erinie. You know that. Confessions are

never of any value to the People unless the
People first prove the corpus of the erime.”

When the officer testified {hat another defend-
ant had also admitfed handling the slips, Magis-
trate Erwin vepeated his novel theory (1058-8):

“Q. Did vou have any conversation with
the derfendant? A. I asked the defendant if
they were poliey slips and she said they were.
I asked her what she was doing with them.
She said she was assorting then,

““By the Court:

Q. She said what? A, She said she was
asgorting them. ® * *

“The Court: Again we have admission—
an alleged confession without proving the
corpus of the erime. You haven't proved
that she was actually in possession of
them.”

- We refrain from giving further details of evi-
dence before Magistrate Krwin, but respeetfully
refer the Court to the record of those proceedings
(Peo’s kxh. 6, pp. 341-379),




colleet poliey slips in front of the premises 419
West 148th Street, they drove to that vicinity
(6479, 6482-3). At about 3:45 p. m., an auto-
mobtle, operated by the defendant Rosencranz,
slowed down near the curb in front of number 419
while a colored man ran from the doorway and
passed a blue package into the car (6471-2). As
the defendant sped off, the officers followed (6472-
3), and when ll()b(‘]l(,’ldll'[; stopped for a traffic
lieht, Jones‘ aﬂ'mnpted to open the door of the de-
fendant’s car (6473, 6495), The light changed and
R().\'Ull('l'allz d-rovo off (6493). MeceCarthy gave
chase in the police car, not waiting for Jones
(6474). At 153rd Street, the defendant made a
A}mrp turn, ‘‘threw th package out’ of the
window, and came to a stop thirty-five or forty
feet further on (6474-5). When Jones arrived a
fow minutes later, MeCarthy (6475)

“told [him] * * * to pick up that package.

He brought the package over to me”’
—the same package which MeCarthy had seen
Rosencranz throw out of his ear. When opened,
it was found to contain wvvrle mu‘elop“s filled
with great numbers of poliey slips (6476).

The magistrate sub) vctod the o'fcms to a sharp
and merciless eross-examination and then ealled
the defendant to the stand. He asked him seven
questions, ineluding these (6567)

“Q. Are those policy slips here vours?”
“Q. Did you have them in the car with
yvoui’’

:
¢ Sl

Q. Did vou throw them out in t

Y. You swear none of these were ever
i vour possession?’’




Upon receiving satisfactory denials, Judge Cap-
shaw made his ruling (6568) :

¢ All right, defendant is discharged.”’

On the stand, Magistrate Capshaw explained
his action by stating that he did not believe the
officers, He gave a nwumber of alleged reasons
for this disbelief, some of which we consider
briefly.

First: He did not believe the officers because
they failed to shoot at Rosencranz’ car when he
drove off (8621-2), even though thev possessed
no evidence that a evime had been, or was being,
committed (8279). Ile maintained, for a time,
however, that the tip they had received from
their informant constituted legal evidence (8277-
81).

Second: He did not believe MeCarthy because
that officer testified to everything that had hap-
pened from the time that Rosencranz was firs
observed until the arrest was made. ile should
have related no more than that he saw the de-
fendant throw the package out of the car (S103-6},
declared Capshaw (8105),

‘‘hecause we are very much pressed for time

in the Magistrates’ Court. We have a lot

of cases we are trying * % . ‘
MeCarthy’s account of these details covers bur

two pages of the present record {8113-8)!

Third: He Aid not believe the officers hecause
they failed to bring their informant in as a wit-
ness.  That such action would
formant’s identity a
not bother the magis

diselose the i
POiRgioRe The in-
(d destrov hiis usefulness did

1
frate {(8412.7, &400-1) .

¥
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““Q. You expected them to produce the
man who gave them this information and
walk him into eourt for the defendant and
everybody else to look af, did vou? AL
saw no objection to it, if they could prove
this man’s guilt. That is what they want to
do, T assume. [8430-11"

A particularly strange requirement when, as Cap-
shaw himself conceded, the informant could have
testified only as to the contents of the package,
which was already offered in evidence following
MeCarthy's testimony that it contained policy
slips (8417-8).  Thus, the magistrate testified
(8417} :
Q. Do you mean that by bringing their
informant, yvou thoueht he would be able to
ive irestimom' as to what was in that pack-

age right before vou in court? " A. I as-
sumed that he would be able to help in that
respect.

“Q. Why didn't vou look at
magistrate? A, Why didn’t th
R ) -

(if it Y
“ourth: He did net believe MeCarthy becansc
S0 hc "l-mxwd the ﬂmmﬂ' had v;f“‘: tes{é“e& th&t ‘i
e

car {7 Ho ()) I‘\m onlv s it af M {hdf \Eu arth

did so testify m%m-.s), um {agwmw admitte 'i
on further crossexamination that snch was the

- ‘¢>,\,~~
&:‘.2 [s 1'~

faet (7988, S002, 800

b

waa not to be b

“How do vou know 1
in the possession of this d

e had saild (8309) .

T seen 1T
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instead of giving an answer which should, in the
magistrate’s words, have been as follows (8308-
9):
““Why, I saw it thrown from the car; I saw
~where it landed, I saw Jones pick it up, and
this is the package.”’

Moreover, the magistrate testified, MeCarthy’s
testiniony that (8157)

““As he [Rosencranz] turned the corner
of 153rd Street he threw this package out”

was incredible, because the officer did not say that
he ‘“saw this package thrown out’’ (8315).

Fifth: The magistrate even intimated that the
package picked up might not have been that
thrown from Roseneranz’ car, but rather one
thrown from some nearby house (8011-2):

“Q. He said he saw a package come out of
the car; he saw a package put in the car;
he had Jones pick up that package. How
could there be any doubt about it? A. Well,
if Jones picked up that package, there could
not be any doubt about it.

“Q. Did you have any doubt that Jones
picked up the package? A. I certainly did,
ves.

“Q. What package did you think he picked
up? A. I don’t know.

“Q. Well, a package thrown from a house
window or what? A. Possibly a different
package that might have been thrown or
placed by somebody else.

“Q. Well, how could MeCarthy tell him to
go and pick it up then if it was thrown from a
house? A. McCarthy might have seen a pack-
age of the same color.

“Q. Hurtling through the air from a win-
dow? A, He does not say he saw it thrown,
He says it was thrown, and he may have scen
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it when he came up to the street, lying there,
a package of the same color.

“Q. That is, as he was driving by he saw
a package of the same color lying on the
street that somebody else threw? A, Pos-
sibly, yes, sir.”’

Sixth: Another of Capshaw’s alleged reasons
for dismissing the case is even more fantastic.
He testified that he believed that the defendant
had schemed with the police officers to have him-
self arrested so as thereby to avoid paying off on
the hits (8371, 8365-73, 8375-9). Such testimony
prompted Judge Nott to inquire (8381):

‘“What has this got to do with the scheme
that originated in 148th Street to have the
defendant somehow chased through the
streets?’’

To which Capshaw replied (8381-2):

“Well, it may have been in their mind,
yvour MHonor, as I thought then, that they
wanted to have a break in the testimony, so
there would not be any holding—There might
be an arrest; they would get the credit for
it; they wonld not give the Magistrate a
suficient line of testimony to justify his
holding; the Magistrate would dismiss the
case and they would get the eredit. The man
who was arrested would probably not have
to pay off on his hits and evervbody would
be satisfied and the Magistrate could hold the
hag.”’ ‘

Then, when the distriet attorney bluntly asked
(8383) :

“Pid you or did vou not believe that i
was a fixed-up arrest se that the defendant
wonld not have to pay off on his slips?”

&
|18
F3
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the magistrate’s only response was (8383) :
“1 can’t answer that.”

The testimony of Weinberg and Davis estab-
lishes the fact that Hines used his influence and
obtained assurances from botlh Capshaw and
Erwin that they would throw out the cases before
them, Consideration of the vecords of the pro-
ceedings in the Magistrates’ Court goes far to
substantiate the accomplices’ testimony that the
dismissals were dictated, not by any independent
process of reasoning, but solely by Hines. That
conclusion becomes a certainty when considered
with, and in the light of, Capshaw’s ludicrous
testimony seeking to justify his action.?

Use of influence and protection in the district
attorney's office

The defendant Hines’ contribution involved not
only protection from arrest and assurance of dis-
missals in the magistrates’ court, but also the use
of his influence in the office of the districet attornev
to prevent effective crime investigation and law
enforcement,

Hines had selected William Copeland Dodee as
his candidate for districet attorney in 1833 (4951)
and had assnred Davis that theve was nothing to
fear with Dodge filling that posttion (48952-3) ¢

“ ¢ wouldn’t worry about it. I can handle
him. T ecan take care ot him.’

§¢TY = T«\ P BN
e ag Uu \(lld W, 12\'1}

him, T can handle Imu.- '

3 he Appellate Division, in considering . Magistrate

Capshaw’s removal, reviewed the testimony he gave npon

the trial of the present case. | See Matfer of Cepslae
(Tst Dept. 1940 258 App. Div, 470,
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n September of 10 33, Duteh Schultz divected

*WA inb) g and Davis to support Dodq@ and to
give him all the assistance, cial and other-
wise, that was needed (2707-9, 271 W em‘)sg
testified that sometime later Sehultz further dis-

cussed the coming election (2712-3)

“‘and the hﬂp we would have to give Hines,
and he said, *We have gol to concentrate

on the district attorney mwore than aunytng
glze,”?

&5

Hines also told Davis that, sinee Dodge was his
candidate, it would be up to hin, Hines, to Anance
the campaign, and he asked Davis fo speak to
Duteh Seln it (48054-D, 4960). Hines

mineced 1o

- “Would you talk to the Dutchman to see
i vou can get wome mouney 1o hack Dodge
in this campaign.”
Davis spoke to Sehultz, who agreed to sy
funds Tor Deodge (4956-7). ‘ﬁ }wu Dav
Schultz that (2957):

awlul lot of
that he ecan

"Jmmzv seems to haxe
dml conti dv nee

(’1“7“” v

s ree

‘:z‘z.lin‘ yhont,

1

haek him fo
Thtﬁ‘?‘a‘é‘tf?&_‘?‘

Hives bhetween 12000 and &1 ’?*lv 4 for ﬂu{ﬁfzﬁ"?

campaien {(H0830 0 The
5\ ‘ombination aggregated
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¢ ok

(u«e‘_n)'f“»?‘; ;lw"i;” Ji

.

HER P |




38

Combination, in addition to Davis, paid Hines,
usually in sums of $2,000 or $3,000 (2714). On at
least one occasion Weinberg turned $3,000 over to
Hines in the office of J()seph Shalleck, an attor-
ney, while Dodge was preseut (2717-21). - Fifteen
handred dollars more in cash was paid to Hines
on Election Day at his clubhouse (4488-9, 4571-2).

In addition to the testimony of Davis, Schoen-
haus and Weinberg, corroborative "evidence was
supplied by other witnesses:

John K. Curry, at that time Leader of Tam-
many Hall, testified that Dodge’s candidacy was
the defendant’s personal project; that Hines had
not advocated the candidacy of anvone else for
county office (4234-3); and that he, Curry, had
egiven Sobol, Dodge’s campaign manager, the
name of no leader other than Hines ““in con-
nection with getting money for Dodge’” (4251).

Henry Sobol, Dodge’s eampaign manager tes-
tified that he received about $11,000 (4790) from
the defendant Hines, all of it in cash and most of
it in bills of $1,000 dlld 000 denominations (4772,
4776-7, 4781, 4790). Some of the payments were

made (lt Shalleek’s office (4775-9).

In the early part of 1935, after Dod g hdd beer
elected Distriet Attorney, the Commissioner s:@f
Accounts of the City of New York mmated an
investication into poliey and ealled Davis as a
witness (4990-1), His testimony having been given
widespread publicity (48913, he received a grand
Jury mﬂ) wena from the office of the distriet at-
torney (H012). This inguiry Invelved Sehultz and
woliev b anLer conneeted with the

the varions
(“omhmntun ({025 } Davis beeame apprehensive
v 1

“You ought to get in touch with Dodee and

see what this thing is going to lead up to.”
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Hines said that he would. Thereafter, Hines told
Davis that he had spoken to Dodge (5013-4)

“and that Dodge told him that they had
no evidence before the Grand Jury of any
kind against me or against anvbody connected
with me, * * ™ For me to go into the Grand
Jury room and answer any questions asked
of me and there would be no trouble.”

Although he did not sign a waiver of immunity,
Davis testified before the grand jury (5017). He
became more apprehensive now—on behalf of
others. He warned Hines that if something were
not done to stop the inquiry, it would reach sueh
proportions as to involve everybody (5026). Hines
said ‘‘that he would get in touch with Dodge”’
(5026).

Finally, in June of 1935, Davis advised Hines
that he had even been questioned about
Hines’ activities in the policy enterprises. Hines
delayed no longer; he ealled on Dodge, personally,
and was with him for about three-quarters of
an hour (5026-7); Davis waited outside, and
when Hines emerged, he told Davis the gist of his
talk with Dodge. Ie had informed Dodge, he
said, that things were getting too warm. He had
requested him to put an end to the ingquiry. Thus,
Davis testified (5028-9):

““He [Hines] told me that he told Dodge that
they were asking questions of me in the
Grand Jury room about him, Jimmy, about
Nehultz, about all the bankewrs, abont me, that
I had been responsible, and so had Schultz,
for having obtained, as he knew, the monevs
for his eampaign, and that the thing should
be stopped, and he told me that Dodge re-
sponded for me to go into the Grand Jury
room {he next time, beeause 1 had been com-
plaining about Wabl to Jinmy in my prior
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conversations. I was told there would be
someone else to examine me, that there would
be a perfunctory examination as to general
matters, and that then I wouldn’t be needed
any more.”’

As Hines had arranged, when Davis next went
into the grand jury room, Wahl was not there.
He was questioned instead, very briefly, either
by Dodge, or an assistant, and dismissed (5030-1).
Thereafter, Davis again discussed the matler
with Hines and when Davis remarked (5034):

“Tt was a pretty close call, T will tell you
that,”’

Hines respouded,
“Yes, I know it, but, * * * it is all over

now, and that is all we are interested in, * * *
It is over with. Let us forget about it.”’

Former Distriet Attorney Dodge, of course,
testified in Hines’ behalf.

Efforts to prevent appointment of special prosecutor

At about this time, a move was set on foot
to have a special prosecutor appointed (5034-3).
The name of the present distriet atlorney was
mentioned as a possibilitv. The prospeet worried
Davis and he told Hines that Dewey’s appoint-
ment was to be prevented at all cosis (5035}, To
impress Hines further with the vital nnportance
of stopping any such appointment, Davis took a
prominent attorney, James D. €. Murrayv, to
Hines” home in Long Beach, solely for the pur-
pose of discussing the matter with ilines (5U37-
41).

This testimony was corroborated by Mr, Mur-
ray himself, whe testified that he had gone to
see Hines with Davis and had spoken to him
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ab(;’gf‘c' the matter. Murray recalled that after
he had given his opinion that Dewey “would
indiet anyone regardless of who he was if the
oceasion arose’’ (6620), Davis remarked to Hines
(6620) :

“He will destroy us ail”’
and again urged Hines (5042)

“to see Dodge and see if you can stop his
appointment.’’
Hines responded (H042):

“T will Oeb in touch with him [Dodgel
unnw(hatel\

and (6620) :

“We will see.”’

The defendant Hines’ continuance in the couspir-
acy until the fall of 1936

In 1935 there was a falling off of revenue
owing to the fact that Schultz had long been a
fugitive from a federal income tax indietment
and had been unable to give sufficient personal
attention to the Combination, Some of the banks
had dropped out of the Combination. Sehultz de-
cided that the salaries of all the Combination’s
~ ine f‘ o Hines, had to be reduced
In June of 1935, Sehultz
xh sort and there, in the pres-
> We nhmm explained the finan-

38 t of af trs and told him that things were
$0 bad that he was compelled to ent down on the
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Weinberg h*s?iﬁwi that Nehuliz fold Hines (2816

“One of the reasons I want to talk to
voun ix fo tell vou, as T guess vou know,
things are gelting pretty t(mw}s and [ am
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using up a lot of money for my case. T will
have to cut down on your money.”’
And Hines rveplied (2816-7):

«Well, if things are tough, T suppose I
will have to take a cut.”

Accordingly, the payments to Iines were re-
duced to an amount ranging from $500 to $250
0 week (2818-20, 4491-2), and those payments
continued until October of 1936. After Schultz’
death in October, 1935, the conspiracy continued
just as before. Weinberg and Schoenhaus con-
tinued to manage the baunks, to handle the rec-
ords, and to pay the defendant Flines for his
services, until the fall of 1936 (4492-6, 2819-22,
4539-44, 3665-75).

The evidence was clear and undisputed. From
the lips of principals in the numbers racket came
diveet testimony that Hines had not only played
a part in setting up the Combination’s head-
quarters (2352-61 ), but had protected the eriminal
enterprise by interfering with police activities
(supra, pp. 15-20), by obtaining dismissals in
the Magistrates’ Court {supra, pp- 21-36), and
by fobhing off investigation in the distriet at-
tornev’s office (supra, pp. 36-40). In addition,
Jdocumoents and witnesses, unimpeached and uninm-
peachable,* furnished corroboration which, at the
trial, rendered impossible effeetual denial or refu-
tation by the defendant, and which, on appeal,
compels acknowledgment that the evidence estab-
lished hix participation in the eriminal conspir-
acy.

fIn passing. we note that there was considerable
evidence from disinterested witnesses establishing the
intimacy which existed and Schultz
(1619, 1819-20; 4900-7; 3553, 5555-7; 6102, 6229-30,
6311, 6359, 6420; 6473-7, 6581).




POINT 1

Policy or the numbers game is a form of lot-
tery within the prohibition of section 1372 of
the Penal Law [In answer to Defendant’s Brief,
Point I, pp. 7-24].

A lottery is defined in section 1370 as

“‘a scheme for the distribution of property
by chance, among persons who have paid or
agreed to payv a valuable consideration for
the chance, whether called a lottery, raffle,
or gift enterprise or by some other name.”

There are, of course, a great many kinds of
lottery. [See, e.g., People v, Miller (1936) 271
N. Y. 44; People ex rel. Ellison v. Lavin (1904)
179 N. Y. 164; Hull v. Ruggles (1874) 56 N. Y.
424.1 Tt is the People's position that the num-
bers game is one form,

As we have already noted (supra, pp. 6-8) the
numbers game, as conducted by the Combination,
was a game of chance in which the player se-
lected a number containing three digits and bet
his money, from a penny up, on that number.
The number was written on a poliey slip which
was given, together with the money, to a so-called
collector. The winning number was determined
each day by chance—more particularly, by a
computation based upon the moneys paid on the
results of horse races at a designated race track.
If a player succeeded in picking such winning
number, he was paid six hundred times the
amount of his bet: otherwise, he reccived noth-
ing.

That such a scheme is a lottery is self-evident
and has been so deelared by the courts of this
state—
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Wilkinson v. Gill (1878) 74 N. Y. 63;

Almy v. McKinney (Gen. T. 5th Dept.
1886) 5 N. Y. St. Rep. 267;

People ex rel. Shaw v. McCarty (Gen.
T. 1st Dept. 1881) 62 How Pr. 152—

and by the courts of every other jurisdiction
that has been called upon to deude the matter.

See: Forte v. United States (Ct. of '&pp. Dist.
Col. 1936) 83 Fed. (2d) 612
Reilley v. United States (C. C. A 6th Cir.
1901) 106 Fed. 896, rev ‘d on other
grounds (1903) 188 U, S, 375;
State v. Gilbert (1917) 6 Boyee (Del)

07"}
Thomas v. State (1903) 118 Ga. 774, 45
S. E. 622;

Cutcliff v. State (1935) 51 Ga. App. 40,
179 8. E. 568;

State ex rel. Kellogg v. Kansas chan-
tile dss ' (1891) 45 Kan. 351, 25 Pac.
984;

Boyland v. State (188 ) 69 Md. 511;

Smith v. State {1887) 68 Md. 168;

Commonwealth v. Sullivan (158‘%) 146
Mass, 142;

Commonwealth v. Wright (1884) 137
Mass, 250;

People v. Hess (1891) 85 Mich, 128, 43
N. W, 181, .

People v. Ellioft (1889) 74 Mich. 264, 41
N. WL 916:

State v. Hilton (1913) 248 Mo. 522, 154
S, W, 729, |

State v. Harmon (1894) 60 Mo. App. 48;
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State v. Mariin (1896) 68 N. . 463, 44
Atl 605,

Dombrowski v. State (1933) 111 N. J. L.
046, 168 Atl 722,

Commonwealtle v. Clirco (1935) 117 Pa.
Super. 199;

Commonwealth v. Banks (1929) 98 Pa
Super, 432;

Abdella v. Commonwealth (Va. 1939) 5
S, E. (2d) 495.

Wilkinson v, (1ll, xup;m T4+ N. Y. 63, was a eivil
action for the recovery of a penalty under a stat-
ute permitting such recovery by ““Any person
who shall purchase any shave, interest, ticket, cer-
tificate of any share or iuterest * * * in any por-
tion of any illegal lotters’ (1 Rev. Stat., p. 667,
§ 82, now § 1383 of the PPenal Law). The polic‘\‘
~game before the Court resembled the presen
numbers game in every important detail (pp. H
62). The trial eourt had charged as a watter of
law that playing ““policy” was the purchase of
an interest in a lottery, awd this Court, in affirm-
g the determination, expressly held that policy
did constitute a ‘“iui%ez;:” The Court said (pp.
66-67) ¢

“The question és therefore presented,
whether the ‘policy” transaetions were with-
in ‘t"u‘ statute i;z it mz;u, to lotterv]. The stat-
ate is very broad and comprehensive. * * ¢

PR R ¥ For a small sum the gli&um&fs“ was en-
titled te a much lavwer sum, depemézx:;x upon
the resalt of the drs ‘*":fr»‘“ «z:s%“ fzse Kentucky
fottery.  Whether from

Lot
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from the

}v*z*t:m*; institutios deten
e e I H T
O auny one eise, dwzxm b

dz'awmg in the Rentuvky iwfum*‘ was adonte
as the wheel of fortune, althourh the nriges
were furnished by others, the charactor of
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the transaction was not changed. It is not
necessary that there should be an organized
institution or that the scheme should be
called a lottery. If the defendant had set uj
4 wheal of his own, and sold numbers which
if drawn would represent prizes, he would
have had a lottery, and whoever purchased
numbers which were to be drawn, would pur-
chase and have an interest in that lottery.
Is the circumstance that the Kentucky draw-
ing was adopted, material in determining the
character of the act done? Was it not at least
a game or device in the nature of a lottery?
It was a practice which is within the very
mischief and evil intended to be remedied. It
matters not by what name it s called, or what
ferms are used. It has all the essential fea-
tures of a lottery, and should be so construed.
It has been well said that ‘the office of the
judge is to make such construction as will
suppress the mischief and advance the rem-
edy, and to suppress all evasions for the con-
tinnance of the misehief.” (Magdalen College
Case, 6 Coke, 125-134.) 7" (Italics ours.)

We submit that the Hilkinson decision is con-
{rolling ‘in the present controversy. The provi-
sion of the Revised Statutes then under consid-
eration by the Court has sinee been incorporvated,
without change, into the Penal Law as section
1383, That scetion and the one involved in this
appeal (£1372) are hoth intearal parts of Arti-
ele 130 of the Penal lLaw. Consequently, the
meaning of the word ~lottery™ as used in each 1s
controlled by the general definition found in see-
tion 1370, 1 follows that the circamstance-—so

strouely nwrged by the defendant-—that section
1583 provides w eivil remedy and section 1302 a

eriminal sauction, is wholly without significance.

The word *“lottery” has the same meaning in
cach scetion, and the Wilkinson case is deeisive
of this appeal.
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In Commonwealth v. Wright, supra, 137 Mass.
250 and Commonwealth v. Sullivan, supra, 146
Mass. 142, the court, in opinions written by Mr.
Justice Holmes, held that persons who carried on
a policy game—in essence like the present num-
bers game—were guilty of participating in a
lottery. In the Wright case, supra, 137 Mass. 250,
Justice Holmes pointed out that the ostensible
distinctions between policy and lottery were of
no legal significance and expressly concluded that
policy was a lottery (pp. 251-252

““IWe cannot say, as matter of law, that the
facts that the prize was money and not spe-
cifie, and that more than one could select the
same number with the same result, prevented
the game from being a lotteryv. It is a lottery
according to the popular use of the word as
shown by the dictionaries, according to his-
tory, to which lotteries with money prizes not
specific have long been known, and accord-
ing to the course of the decisions. 1Vilkinson
v. Gill, 74 N. Y. 63. See State v. Lovell, 10
Vrvoom, 458: and cases cited in Bish, Stat.
Crimes, § 952.”

It is to be noted that Justice Hohnes considered
Wilkinson v. Gil, supra, 74 N. Y. 63, authorita-
tive upon the subjeet and eited it to support his
conelusion in a eriminal case,

Forte v. United States, supra. 83 Fed. (2d)
612, was a prosecution growing out of the opera-
tion of a so-called numbers game, the defendant
being charged with the sale and possession of
lottery tickets. The numbers game, as deseribed
in that opinion (pp. 613-614), was similar to the
numbers game operafed by the conspivators in
this case. The defendant’s sole contention was
that he could not be prosccuted for selling loftery
tickets beeause the numbers game was not a lot-
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tery. After careful discussion of the authorities,
the court—which also relied upon Wilkmson v.
Gill—held that the numbers game was a form of
lottery, and said (pp. 615-616) :

«¢The first contention of counsel for appel-
lant is that the numbers game is a direct bet
or wager on horse races. This contention
has been generally rejected by the courts.
Commonsvealth v. Wright, 137 Mass. 250, 50
An. Dee. 306; Wilkinson v. Gill, 74 N. Y. 63,
67, 30 Am. Rep. 264; Commonwealth v. Banks,
supra. The results of the horse races are
emploved merely to determine the winning
number, it being entirely immaterial to the
plaver of the numbers game which horses win.
The player merely guesses that the result of
mathematical calenlations, based upon the
prices paid at a certain track, will be a cer-
tain number.

«Tt is further contended that the numbers
game is not a lottery because there must be
a physical drawing of the certificate or ticket.
One of the essential elements of a lottery is
the awarding of a prize by chance, but the
exaet method adopted for the application of
chance to the distribution of prizes is imima-
terial. People v. Elliott, 74 Mich, 264, 41
N, W, 916, 3 L. R. AL 403, 16 Am. St. Rep.
G40 3R C. J. pp. 289, 290, § 3. Any reason-
able interpretation of the statute indieates
that it is the prize and not the ticket which
i= to be drawn.

““In our opinion the ‘numbers game’ is a
lottery. .

& % 2

““The policy game is undoubtedly a lottery
(Wilkinson v. Gill, supra; People v. Fliott,
supra), and in our opinion the operation of

dlvad freriine wied the 1 o - )
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ion of poliey tickets, could be punish
under section 863 even had that particul
tvpe of lottery not been prohibited eo nomine
in the statute.”’
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The defendant urges (Defendant’s Brief, pp.
15-16) that the court in the Forfe case did not
pass upon the question of whether “‘policvewas a
lottery.”” He claims that the issue before the
court was whether the “numbers game” was ¥
poliex game™ (Defendant’s Briet, p. 16). In this,
the defendant seriously errs.  Throughout its
opinion, the court stated that the question for
deeision was whether the numbers game was a lot-
tery (pp. 614-616), and, at one point, specifically
said (p. 614):

““The prineipal question for our decision
is * * * in other words, whether the ‘numbers
game’ is a lottery.”’

And, as we have alveady noted, the court ex-
pressly and unequivoeally stated, in answering

that question (p. 613):

“In our opinion, the ‘numbers game’ is a
lottery.

#* & @

“The poliey game is nudoubfediv a lot-
tery ** e

Ju truth, that case eannot be distinenished from
the present one,

The circumstance that the lottery Iaws were
enacted before the game of policy came into ex-
istence (Detendant’s Brief, p. 11), does not, of
course, prechude prosecution of poliey fransae-
tions under the lottery statute. [ See IWilkineon
v. Gll, supra, 74 NCDYL 83, 680 Farfe v, Duited
Niates, supra, 83 Fod, (24 G120 615 Couriian-
H

11
(it
s

7

wealth v. Banks, supra, 98 Pa. Super. 432, 434
Abdelle vo Cowmononicealih, supra, 5 80 B (3d)

405, 496. ]
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Nor is there any merit in the suggestion that
the enactment of Penal Law provisions dealing
specifically with the game of policy (Penal Law,
§§ 970, 974 ¢t al.) prevented a prosecution of the
defendant for contriving, proposiug and drawing
a lottery in violation of seetion 1872

Tu the first place, it is quite apparent that sec-
tion 1372 and the poliey seetions arve directed at
entirely different types of conduct.

Section 1372, ix aimed against one who, among
other things, contrives, proposes or draws a lot-
tery, or assists in so doing (/nfra, pp. 60-69).

Sections 970 and 974 do net deal with any such
activity. They do no more than define, as mis-
demeanors, certain of the minor offenses peculiar
to policy. Seetion 970 prohibits a person from
(1) selling a lottery poliey or any paper equiva-
lent thereto, or (2) from endorsing a docu-
nient to enable others to sell lottery policies, and
Section 974 prohibits one from (1) keeping an
establishment for policy plaving or the sale of

lottery policies, (2} delivering or receiving money
Jin plaving poliey, (3) possessing poliey slips,

(4) possessing any other articles used in carrying
on poliey, and (5) heing the owner, agent, jani-
tor, ete., of an establishment where lottery poli-

eies are sold.
In short, it was never

.

ntended that the policy
provisions shoull include the morve important
individuals who confrive, manage, and carry on
poliey or numbers enterprizes, or assist therein,

O TR S SUUUUE SR R
and this conelnsion is counfirmed by a considera-

tion of the legisiative history of these several pro-
visions,  We respecttully vefer this Court to the
decicion of the Supreme Court, overvaling the de-
murrer, wherein  that subjeet 1 exhaustively
treated (fols., T40-176:3 168 Mise. 453, 108-465).
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1. The state may proceed under a general
statute even though a more specific one is
available.?

Moreover, even if it conld be said that section
974 defined with greater parvticularity conduct
proseribed by the more general statute, and that
the conduct of the defendant Hines canme within
such limited provision, it is settled that a spe-
cific statute does not veplace a more general one
and does not become the exclusive method of
prosecution,

As a matter of fact, the defendant in Wilkin-
son v, Gill, supra, 74 N. Y. 63, made a contention
very siwilar to the one now advanced by the de-
fendant Hines, »iz., that the enactment of chapter
504 of the Laws of 1851, relating to policy playing,
prevented the application of the lottery statutes to
situations involving phases of policv. In over-
ruling that avgument, this Court said (pp. 67-68):

“‘It is claimed that the act of 1851 (chap.
504), is a legislative construction that ‘policy’
is not a lottery. This act makes it a eriminal
offense for selling lottery policies, or any
writing in the nature of ‘het, wager, or in-
surance upon the drawing or drawn numhers
of any public or private lotterv.” It may be
that the defendant was liable under this
statute, although i faet ne poliey or writing
of any kind was issued or delivered, but €
am at a loss to see upon what principle this
act can be held to limit or restrict the meaning
of the word lottery in the section under which

5 Any claim that a z‘t‘pe;ﬂ by amphcation was effected
must fail in view of section 2500 of the Penal Taw and
the cases. [See People v. Bord (1920) 243 N. Y. 395,
F‘ef’{?f?!é? v. Do gyer (19}5) 215 N. Y. “!ru, e !zu\(!ii v. Mar-
tine (1914 210 NO YL 4 il
12y 19 i

. .
Poopt.




this action was brought. The particular acts
which the defendant may have done in pursu-
ing the lottery business, are perhaps de-
seribed with more precision than in the sec-
tion in controversy; but this cannot impair
the meaning of the section as it stands.
That seetion s u'vnm'al, but very comprehen-
sive, and although the particular device
adopted by the defendant may not then have
been  practiced, yet it its comprehensive
terms embraced 1ty the subsequent passage
of an act making such device erininal can-
not affect ity provision.

There are innumerable deeisions holding that
the state may proceed under a general statute,
even though a more specific seetion is available,
under which the offender might be prosecuted,
The following cases are more or less illustrative.

Perjury cases:
People v, Malavasst (2d Dept. 1
App. Div. T84,
People v. Lorenzo (2d
App. Div, 686
Peaple v, w?i (1935) 9 Cal. App. 24)
246, 49 Pac. (2d) 6171;

State v. Little (Mo. 1933) 60 8. W. (21)

ey
W‘c),

NN D4R
.70( ) LD

Dept. 1929) 2268

—

‘,_m i

Laveeny cases:
Prople v (um’n ghor (Sup. Ct. Herkimer
(o, *”(M S AMise, 812

S The Supreme Courty in overraling the demurrer to

the idictment i the present wisey S :
thought, writing as {oliows (1734 108 Ml aty
“As already ohserved, teries generallv were

made unhm ful bcmw 18;1 'mi before the probable
existence of “policy plaving.” When, thereatie
tegal h(m upon ‘palicy plaving” was er

it did not take poliey out of he tottery ~mwzh
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Goode v. United States (1895) 159 U. 8.
663 |

State v. Liston (1921) 27 N, M. 500, 202
Pac. 696; ‘

Bingham v. State (1929) 44 Okla. Crim.
258, 280 Pac. 636.

Miscellaneous cases:

People v. Bord (1926) 243 N. Y. 595;

People v. Dewey (Gen, T. 1890) 33 N. Y.
St. Rep. 427,

Uefz'ii('d States v. Miro (C. C. A. 2d Cir.

1932) 60 Fed. (2d) 58;

Nichols & Cox Lumber Co. v. United
States (C. C. A. 6th Cir. 1914) 212
Fed. 588; )

United States v. Altman (Dist. Ct. W. D.
N. Y. 1934) 8 Fed. Supp. 880;

People v. Singer (1919) 288 I11. 113, 123
N. E. 327;

Bonalhoon v. State (1931) 203 Ind. 51,
178 N. E. 570.

The Malavassi decision, supra, 248 App. Div.
784, a perjury case, is typical. Although a specifie
statute was awvailable covering the type of false
swearing with which the defendant was charged,
he was prosecuted and indieted under the broader
general perjury statute. In holding it proper to
rely on the general statute, the court said (p. 784) ¢

“There is no provision in article 74 of the
Penal Law that makes the offenses therein
defined and the punishment therefor exelu-
sive. The faet that an act is a erime under
{wo or more sections of the Penal Law does
not bar prosecution under ecither provision.
In xmh a (*1\@ the duty devolves upon the
crand jury and the distriet attorney to de-
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termine under which of the applicable sec-
tions of the statute an indictment should be
tound. Penal statutes covering substantially
the same offenses may stand together and
one may be prosecuted under any one of the
provisions making the act or acts an offense.
(Penal Law, §1938; People v. Dwyer, 215
N. Y. 46, 52.)”’ :

In Deople v, Bord, supra, 243 N. X, 599, this
Court was called upon to consider whether a gen-
oral statute dealing with incest could be invoked
when it appeared that the legislature had cnacted
a statute to cover the preeise factual sitnation
Snvolved.  Seetion 1110 of the IPenal Law pun-
ished as a felony the intermarriage of persons
rolated within the prohibited degrees; under that
provision it was immaterial whether or not car-
nal knowledge had occurred.  Another statute,
secetion B, subdivision 3, of the Domestie Rela-
tions Law, provided that parties to an incestuons
marriage were subject to proseention for a mis-
demeanor where there was no carnal connection,
The indictment against Bord failed to charge
fhat there had been such a counection, and the
ovidence, he urged, established none. On appeal
from his conviction of the felony, the defendnt
areued that the existence of a specilic statute)
covering the exaet act with which he was charged,
prevented a prosecution for the felony under the
more general statute.  In rejecting that argu-
ment, this Court ruled that the distriet attorney
was free to prosecute under either statute as he
might choose, and said (p. 396}

“It i‘f'.f".if’ '\’;7:‘.“;]3’}.(' .*f(i'f?!;i'i cudaent Do weried fo fe

The dintrici alforues may
i,

eaxclusive

prosceute for the felony or for the misde-
meanor as he chooses,” (Ttalies ours,)
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2. Cases cited by the defendant

None of the cases relied upon by the defendant
detract from the force or validity of the People’s
position. For the most part, they are clearly in-
applicable. ’ ’

Cases such as People v. Bloom (1928) 248 N. Y.
5832, People v. Edelstein (1st Dept. 1931) 231 App.
Div. 459, and People v. Lyttle (1st Dept. 1929)
225 App. Div. 299, aff’d 251 N. Y. 347, not only
are beside the point but clearly emphasize
the vice of the defendant’s reasoning (Defend-
ant’s Brief, pp. 8-9). Those three decisions do
not treat the question of whether policy or the
numbers game is a lottery; they simply involve
the problem of whether lotteries, other than pol-
icy or the numbers game, may be prosccuted un-
der section 974. Of course, since lottery is the
general term, and poliey the specific one, cvery
lottery is not policy. But the converse does not
follow, for, as the authorities agree, it is clear
that policy is in its very nature a lotftery.

The defendant seems to rely most strongly
upon Prople v. Weber (2nd Dept. 1933) 245 App.
Div. 827 (Defendant’s Brief, pp. 9, 21-23). In
that case, the court reversed a judement conviet-
ing the defendant of a violation of section 1372
and, in its memorandum, cited the above-men-
tioned three cases [People v. Bloom, 248 N. Y.
582: People v. Edelstein, 231 App. Div. 439 and
People v, Lyttle, 225 App. Div. 299, aff'd 251 N. Y.
347] for the proposition that a distinetion should
be drawn between violations of secetions 974 and
975 and violations of scetion 1372, If the Ay
Iate Division meant {o suggest thereby that t
engaged in a poliey enferprise could by no moeans
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be prosecuted under xection 1372, the decision
is, we submit, clearly wrong and constitutes bad
}aw.

However, it seems to us that the case does not
stand for any such proposition. As observed by
the Appellate Divizion, in the instant case, in its
opinion below (11579; 258 App. Div., at p. 468):

“In People v. Weber (245 App. Div. 827)
the question was not whether poliey is a lot-
tery but whether possession of lottery slips
was sufficient to justify a conviction for con-
triving, proposing or drawing a lottery.”’
In the Weler case, the People offered nothing but
the testitnony of ‘U“h  officers that the defendants
had been seen in a room sorting and tabunlating
poliey slipx. That wasx the sun total of the evi-
dence in the caxe. There was absolutely no evi-
dence that awy defendant ad contrived, proposed,
or drawen a lottery., or assisted therein, or, indeed,
that any lottery had ever been drawi,

That, as a matter of fact, was the position that
the defendant’s attorney took at the trial, for he
sought a dismissal on the ground that nothing but
““possession of poliey shlips™ had been shown
(HWeber Record on Appeal; fol. 657). Indeed, the
trial judge even refused to chavge that the People
were required to prove more than naked posses-
ston of poliey =lips to warraunt a convietion under
section 1372 (Id., fols. ()0() 601).  Under such eir-
cumstances the Appellate Division had no alterna-
tive hut to reverse the convicetion, (‘mzwquonUy,
the dictwm by the court that (245 App. Div, 827)

“a violation of scctions 974 and 975 of the
nal Law * % % must be distinenished from

\mimmn of the eriminal statutes respecting
lotteries,””
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can be taken to mean only that mere possession
of policy slips (which establishes guilt under sec-
tions 974 and 975) is insufficient to establish that
the defendant contrived or drew a lottery. With
this natural and unstrained construction of that
decision, the People do not take issue.

The defendant has also velied on Matter of
Praither (2d Dept. 1936) 246 App. Div. 846, aff'd
271 N. Y. 598, as an authority establishing that
policy is not a lottery (Defendant’s Brief, pp. 9-
10). There was no such question before the court.
The sole issue was whether or not the Court
of Special Sessions of the Town of Ilemp-
stead had power to trv a defendant for the pos-
session of poliey slips in vieolation of section 974
of the Penal Law. Since it was a court of lim-
ited jurisdietion, having onlv such powers as were
expressly conferred upon it by section 56 of the
Code of Criminal Procedure, and since subdivi-
sion 10 thereof—which listed the lottery charges
that could he heard—did not include the posses-
ston of slips or even of lottery tickets, it followed
that that Court of Special Sessions lacked the
power to try the case. That ig all the Appellate
Division held.

It was again a question of possession, and no
point was raised or discussed that even remotelv
touched the problem involved in the present case.
Although, as the defendant indicates, the court re-
marked that certain eases purport to differentinte
poliex from lottery, that was only by way of show-
iny that, in the case hefore it, the same rosult
woud have been reached, whether the papers were
considered poliey slips or lottery tickets, This
appears elearly from the statement in the Appel-
late Division’s memorandum opinion that “‘even
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if ‘policy’ be deemed ‘lottery’” wi thm the pmvww
of the Penal Law, possession of a ticket is not in-
cluded within subdivision 10 of section 56 of the
Code of Criminal Procedure’” (246 App. Div.
846). Obviously, the case canuot properly be
cited in support of the defendant’s position.

Cases such as People ca rel. Lawrence v. Fallon
(1897) 152 N. Y. 12, and Matier of Dwyer (1594)
14 Misc. 204, also relied upon by the defendant
(Brief, pp. 10-11), are equally irvelevant. As the
court below pointed out, they relate to distine-
tions between lottery and gambling and have
nothing whatsoever to do with the problem here
presented (115795 2598 App. Div., at pp. 467-468).

In Matter of Iwyer, for instance, the court
merely held that racing horses for stakes did not
constitute a lottery (pp. 204-203, 206). The facts
of that ease serve to differentiate it even fur-
ther from the instant one. Although one statute
(Penal Code, §352) made the racing of horses
for stakes a misdemeanor, the operation of that
provision was, by another =tatute (Laws of 1887,
¢h, 479), suspended during thirty days of each
vear, The indictment against the defendant for
contriving a lottery was based upon the fact that
e had advertised and organized a horse race to be
yan on one of those days cxpressly permitted by
the statute. That being so, the court refused to
permit a prosecution for an act which the leg-
islature, in the statute expressly dealing with
horse racing, chose to regard as proper and legal
(pp. 207-208):

“f i hb’)ﬂi‘ﬂ! \* POVOTR Hlﬂ faeris ﬂ‘é %}Hw CHRRe,
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stakes. But by chapter 479 of the Laws of
1887 the operation- of this secti
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pended duving thirty days in cach year on
the grounds of the said association and all
Like associations, and the day of the race on
which the alleged offense is predicated was
one of those days. The complainant, there-
fore, being unable to have the defendant ar-
rested  for any actual offense, but being
apparently bent on having him arrested any-
how, called racing hovses for a stake a lot-
teryv, and accused him, as has been secn,
under scetion 352 of the Penal Code, which
is found in the chapter on ‘Lotteries,” and
makes the contriving, proposing or maintain-
ing of a lottery a evime.”” (Italics ours.)
There can be no pretense that the legislature
had given any approval or sanction to the aetivi-
ties carried on by the defendant lHines or his ae-
complives,  The simple problem presented is
whether, it the acts perpetrated amount to con-
triving, proposing, or drawing a lottery in the
nature of poliey, or assisting therein, the defend-
ant may be prosecuted under the lottery statute,
even thouceh other provisions exist whieh rolate
specifically to other phases of poliey.

Indeed, we are prepared to state that, so far as
exha
in the Unifed States to which the question has
been presented has held that the numbers game
or policy is a lotterv.  As the Virginia Supreme
Court of Appeals reeently said [dbdella v. Com-
wmoiealth, supra, 5 80K, (2d) 495, 4961

u\fx\ ¢ reseal L‘}l s L’U\\'il'\(‘d every couru

C“Phat it [the numbers vwme] s lotlery
ix nowhere quesbioned.™




60

POINT II

The defendani’s activities rendered him
guilty under section 1372 of the Penal Law
[In answer to Defendant’s Brief, Point I, pp.

25-31].

Despite his concession that the evidence estab-
ligshed his membership and participation in the
conspiracy (115755 258 App. Div, at p. 467), the
doefendant now urges that he cannot be convieted
‘under seetion 1372 of the Penal Law., To support
this contention, he interprets the words ‘‘con-
trives, proposcs or draws a lottery or assists in
contriving, proposing ov drawing a lottery’’ in
a highly teehnieal and artificial manner, and
further asserts that it was necessary to prove his
direct or physical participation in the contriving
or the proposing or the drawing of a lottery.

Not only does the defendant misconstrue the
language of the statute, hut he iguores the fact
that his confederates performed the very acis
prohibited by section 1372 (md that, by virtue of
the atd which he rendered in the commission of
those erimes, he is him=elf’ a principal under sce-
tion 2 (Penal Law), even though he did not
physically <eontrive, propose ov draw a lottery,

Ol d‘“\l‘\l.’ t} ‘It\kll.

A. Meaning of the expression “conirives, pro-
poses or draws.”

—4.

The word “eontrive™ has been defn
‘manage.” and ffearry throueh

& Waoenall's N Staudard Thiciiauary:
New Ooford Dicticuare: Webstor's
national Dictionaryy: the word “propose.’” to
mean Ctput betore the mind, bring {o oue’s no-
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tice” and “forward as a scheme’ (see Mur-
ray’s New Ouxford Dictionary); and the word
“draw’’ (in connection with lotteries), to select
by chance a winner of moueys or property. [See
Wilkinson v. Gill, supra, 74 N. Y. 63, 66; People
v. Noclke (1st Dept. 1883) 29 Hun 461, 462.17

Morcover, when the statute is considered as a
whole—as it must be—-it becomes clear that it is
directed against all persons who cooperate to-
gether in the instituting, promoting and manag-
ing of a lottery enterprise, or who join together
to further a eeneral scheme, regardless of the
peculiar relations they may sustain to the lot-
tery, or to cach other, in rendering such coopera-
tion. A counsideration of Article 130 of the Penal
Law, of the lottery statutes in other jurisdie-
tions, and of the cases confirms the People’s posi-
tion.

Artiele 130 constitutes a comprehensive and
integrated plan for the suppression of lotteries,
containing, as it does, provisions specifically relat-
ing to the various accessory ineidents of a lottery,
and a provision expressly divected against those
who set up, operate, and conduet the lottery en-
terprise itself. Thus, after defining a lottery
(§ 1370}, the Penal Law prohibits, as misdemean-
ors, the letting of premises for fottery purposes
(§1381), the keeping of a lottery office ($1377),
the advertising of lotievies (8 1374), and tim sell-
ing of lottery tickets ($1373).

Those activities obviously do not include the
carrying on or managing of the lottery enterprise

T Yikzq, ‘-"(\ L"‘l“’ (}{ ““l q\\‘ (\t1 "(j {K()iélf ‘\‘\\1}:4:\ ( \ ﬁ l Z‘T‘i
the Combination of which I*mcs was a member engaged
i the datly drawimg of a lottery, 7o, the mechanical act of

totadling the race tmd\ oddds, md therehy welecting by

chimee a winning nuimber and a winoer cach day,
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itself. Such conduet is prohibited and declared
felonious by section 1372, which expressly pro-
seribes the contriving, propomlg‘, or drawing of
a lottery, or the assisting therein. There can be
no doubt, we maintain, from the structure of Ar-
ticle 130 itself, that that latter provision (§ 1372)
is intended to encompass not only those who may
have originated the type of lottery involved, but
also those who carry on or promote the lottery,
or handle the drawing and scleeting of the win-
ners.

The earliest forerunner of section 1372 is found
in chapter 206, section 2, of the Laws of 1819,
which reads in part:

“That no person or persons shall, within
this state, open, set on toot, carry on, pro-
mote, draw, or make puhhclv or pnvltel},,
any I()ttexy ® % %00 (Ttalies ours.)

This provision was incorporated into the Revised
Statutes with but minor changes (see 1 Rev. Stat,,

p. 665, §27), and was not displaced until four
years after the adoption of the Penal C ode. (Sce
Laws 1886, ¢h. 593.)

The words ¢ contrives, proposes or draws’’ first
appeared in the draft of the Penal Code 1‘)?'9‘{‘)::11‘0(1
by the Commissioners in 1865 (p. 138, § 372);
covered:

“Tvery person who contrives, p epares, sels
up, proposes or draws any lotte By

Since there appears to have been no basis or rea-
son to modify the meaning of the prm‘mm provi-

S100, we submit that the \H..\“\L\\(\. verhi age was
intended to he synouymous with the words “open,
set on foot, carry on, promote, or draw’ found
i the ecarlicr Revised Statutes (1 Rev. Stat,
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p. 665, § 27). The Penal Code section ($ 325), as
finally adopted, used the precise wording now
found in section 1372 of the Penal Law. Again,
we note the lack of any reason or motive to effect
a change in meaning.

It is clear, therefore, that the combination of
the four words, ‘‘contriving,”’ ‘‘proposing,”’
““drawing,”” and ‘‘assisting,”” was intended to
comprehend the entire conduct and operation of a
lottery scheme, including all the persons acting in
concert with the managers and operators of the
lottery enterprise, and to exclude only those who,
separate and apart from the former, merely
earry on an incidental activity, such as the selling
of lottery tickets (see, infra, pp. 67-69).

Thig, in effect, is the holding of the lower courts
m this case. Thus, in overruling the demurrer
to the indictment, the Supreme Court stated
(153-6; 168 Misc., at p. 461) :

“T have not been able to find any prior
source of the verbiage ‘contrive and propose’
as contained in the proposed Penal Code of
1864 and embodied in the present statute.
There are no definitions of the word ‘coutrive’
in anyv of the law dietionaries or any of the
legal decisions. There is a definition in the
Standard Dictionary which seems to fit the
situation, in the following: ‘To manage or
carry through by some device or scheme.” The
word ‘propose’ in that context is more diffi-
cult to explain. I believe, by comparison with
the old section in the Revised Statutes, that
it is the equivalent of the phrase ‘set on foof’
and ‘promote.’ In any event, the source of the
verblage implies a deseription of the erime
of devising a lottery and carrying it into ef-
feet. It embraces the work of the master
minds who make up the scheme and who ‘set
it on fool’ and supervise its execution. To
use an analogy from the language of sport,
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the captains, the managers and the finaneial
backers or promoters of the scheme are the
persons intended to be covered by the defini-
tion, not the players on the team, the persons
on the side lines, or the spectators.”

And the Appellate Division wrote in the same
vein (11580-3; 258 App. Div,, at p. 468):

“We find no merit in defendant’s conten-
tien that his convietion was not supported by
sufficient evidence wnder the provisions of
Section 1372 of the Penal Law which relates
to one who ‘contrives, proposes or draws a
lottery, or assists in contriving, proposing or
drawing.” It has been held it is proper to
charge that these words ‘are applicable to
persons cooperating in the instituting and
administering of the lottery whatever may
be the peculiar relations they sustain to it or
to each other in rendering such cooperation’
(State v. Wong Took, 147 Wash. 190, 265
P. 459.)

“The Oxford Dictionary, among defini-
tions of ‘contrive,” contains the tollowing:
‘To succeed in bringing to pass; to “manage,’
to effeet (a purpose)’; also as meaning: ‘to
plot, conspirve;” likewise “To invent, devise,
excogitate * * * (any plan or purpose).” The
Standard Dictionary defines the word ‘con-
trive’ as follows: ‘To manage or carry
through by some deviee ov scheme.” At least,
the evidence was sufficient to hold defendant
as principal under the provisions of seciion
2 of the Penal Law, even though he did not
= gefually engage o the drawing.™

<

[ 7 > P ; g e R
seeyalsor People vo Runge (=0 Depty INS5) 3
N v . ) , .
NoYL Ore 89 (erted with approval in
Frmey ol o we AT 7.0 71009048 irl 7 T
i (,f{!‘lfti“t v, Milles i“!*‘}{‘*} 271 NV Y. 44,

47);
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The equivalent of scetion 1372 has been enacted
in most of the other states of this country. While
the exact verbiage employed differs somewhat, it
1s evident that the vavious legislatures were intent
upon prohibiting the promotion and operation of
a lottery enterprise and punishing those who were
eneaced therein.

Most of the states have statutes resembling
those of Alabama and Massachusetts. The former
(Ala. Code of 1928 Aun, § 4247) is directed at one
who

“sets up, carries on or is concerned in sef-
ting up or carrying on any lottery or de-
viee * ¥ *7.
and the latter (Mass. Ann. Laws, c¢h. 271, §7) at
one who

€4

sets up or promotes a lottery

The California statute (Penal Code, 1931, § 320)
follows that of New York quite elosely, providing
that one who

¥ %k % 5

“contrives, prepares, sets up, proposes or
draws any lottery”’

18 "Ul“‘;’ of a erime.®

The statutes of Minnesota (JMason’s Minn,
Stat., 1927, §10209) and of Washington (Rev.
Stat. § 2464) ave identieal with seetion 1372, As
a matter of faet, the statutes of Washington not

only inelude the provisions of section 1372, but

¥ The statutes in seven states are wdentical \\‘LH the Cah-
fornia provision. | Sce fdehe: Code 19320 § 17.2403;
Montara: Rev. Code 1935, § 11150 .\%‘:’mzuz Comp.
Poows 1029 S 10177 Norih Iy
§9062; {)H(Jmum Stat. £ 23120 Sowth Doketa: Comp.
Laws 1929, § 38906, [l  Rev.,

2 TR RN R, 1 s anri SRR
albaia: O GNP, 1LAWS 1913,

Stat, 1933, § 103-25-9.)
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incorporate Article 130 of our Penal Law with-
out substantial change. Consequently, any de-
cision by its court of last resort construing the
expression ‘‘contrives, proposes ov draws,’’ is
entitled to particular weight.

In State v. Wong Took (1928) 147 Wash. 190,
265 Pac. 459—referred to in the opinion of the
Appellate Division below-—the trial court had in-
structed as follows (147 Wash., at p. 191, 265
Paec., at p. 460):

““The words ‘contriving, proposing or
drawing a lottery or assisting in contriving,
proposing or drawing a lottery’ as used in
the law, are applicable to persons cooperat-
ing in the instituting and administering of
the lottery whatever may be the peculiar re-
lations they sustain to it or to each other in
rendering such cooperation. Thev apply to
one who econtrols the establishment and pro-
cures or permits a lottery to be operated
therein, or to one who engages in the illegal
use of the premises in assisting in anv way
the contriving, proposing or (hawmg of &
lottery * * *.7?

The Washington Supreme Court. approved the
charge and clearly indicated that this contriv-
ing’? statute was aimed at those who “*conducted”’
a lottery enterprise. Thus, 1t was said (147 Wash,,

at p. 191, 265 Pac., at p. 460) :

“The instruction was entively appropriate
and correct under the facts of the case to
the effect that the appellants conducted the
enterprise in the back room of a store build-
ing and in doing so they, from thne to time
and inferchangeably, served in the several
capaci ities of tu)mkem)m, marking tickets and
duplie m« and taking in and paving out
money.”’
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The defendant contends (Defendant’s Brief, p.
30) that the counstruction aceorded section 1372
by the courts below is inconsistent with the exist-
ence of the misdenmeanor provisions—to which we
have already adverted (supra, p. 61)—relating to
various incidental activities that attend the con-
duct of lotteries. In making that argument, how-
ever, the defendant fails to distingnish between
a case where a person’s only comncetion with a
lottery begins and ends with his performance of
the incidental acts specified in those seetions and
a caxe where a person performs such incidental
acts-—c.g., letting premises for lottery purposes ov
selling tickets—in deliberate cooperation with
those conducting and managing the lottery enter-
prise itsclf, and for the specific purpose of fur-
thering the aims and objects of that enterprise.

Ct.: Conmmonwealth v, Harris (1866) 95

Mass. 534,

State v. Wong Took, supra, 147 Wash.
1890, 265 Pac. 459;

State v, Chin Kee TWoy {1928) 147 Wash,
194, 265 Paec. 460;

State v, Lowie (19260 139 Wash. 430, 247
Pae. 728.

In the Harris case, supra, 93 Mass. 334, the de-
fendant was charged, by separvate indictments,
both with the selling of lottery tickets, and with
the setting up and promoting of a lottery, and
the question arose whether the defendant could
properly be convieted of bofk erimes at the same
time, In distinguishing hetween the two offenses,
the eourt pointed out that a persen who sells lot-

tery fickets and does nothing else, eould not he
charged with carrving on a lottery, anless he were
acting in concert with the actual managers of the




enterprise. However, the court squarely held that
one who performed the inecidental act of sclling
lottery  tickets ““in furtherance of the [lot-
terv] scheme itself”’ was guilty bofh of the erime
of selling tickets and of the evime of promoting a
lottery. Thus, the court said (pp. 539-040):

“The question is also submitted whether
the defendants can be convicted and sen-
tenced, at the same time, upon all of these
indictments. Assuming that the first indiet-
ment is for the same lottery in which the
ticket, deseribed in the second indietment, was
isxued, 1t would seem, at first thought, that
the possessiou of the ticket, with intent to
sell, muast form a part of the enterprise, and
was ineluded in the offence of setting up or
promoting the lottery. But this apparent
1dentity is incidental, and not a necessary
one. A wman may be guilty of sciting wp alot-
tery withiont Tiaving the tickets 1w s posses-
ston for sale; and e may sell « lottery ticket,
or have 1 In his possession with intent to
sell, without the slightest participation iv the
setting up or prowotivg of Hee lattery, He
may have purchased or received a ticket from
a stranger, and if he offer to sell it afterwards
he would be guilty of this offence. Proof of
the possession and sale of a lottery ticket,
and nothing more, would not sustain the
charge of promoting a lottery. The defend-
ants in these cases undoubtedly had the tick-
ets and were selling them in furtherance of
the scheme itself; but the fact that they did
thereby promote the lottery is not essential,
and indeed constitutes no part of the offence
of selling lottery tickets, nor of having them
in their possession with intent to sell.”

The same conclusion was reached 1 Stafe v,
Cliie Kee Wop, sepra, T4 Wash, 184, 260 Pae.
460, The defendants were convieted of contriv-
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ing, proposing, and drawing a lotterv. Another
statute, similar fo section 1373 of the Penal Law,
made it a crime to sell lottery tickets, There was
no evidence offered that the defendants did anv-
thing more than sell lottery tickets, On appeal,
the convietion was reversed, the court expressly
holding that mewi\* selling tickets did not con-
stitute contriving or propoesing a lottery. In
so deeiding, lm"m'or the court »aid (147 Wash,,
at pp. 196-197, 265 Pac., at p. 461):

“We are not holding that evidence of selling,
giving, furnishing or transferring lottery
tickets ix inadmissible as proof bearing upon
the question of guilt of one charged with
the felony defined in the statute. We hold
only that proof of seclling, giving, furnishing
or transferring of lottery tickets, in the ab-
sence of tuzthm' proof of mntuvmg, Propos-
ing or drawing a }ot“x\', does not constitute
sufficient pmof to sustain a convietion of the
felony defined by the statute. To hold other-
wise would be to view the misdemeanor see-
tion as meaningless.  Here is wherein this
ease is clearly distinguishable from that of
State v. Wong Took, just decided 1 Vs, ante,
page 1)){), 265 Pac. 307

E. The Combination committed erimes in vio-
lation of section 1372, and Hines, in furnishing
protection to it and to its members, was a prin
cipal therein

The defendant s attempled distinetion of ihe
Woug Tool case, supra, 14 .7 Woashn 104, 260 Dac.
50 (Defendant’s Brief, p. 31) eviuces, we believe,
the confusion that pervades his entire argument.
He urges that the court in that ease placed its rul-
ing upon the faet that, unlike Hines, Wong Took

had been encawed o the phosical administration
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and operation of a lottery.”” It may be true that
Hines did not physically contrive, propose, ov
draw a lottery; nevertheless, the others with whom
Hines had confederated and with whom lie was
acting in concert—o.y., Schultz, Weinbere, Scho-
enhuus, and the bankers who had set up, managed,
and operated the enterprise—were patently en-
gaged in ““the physical administration and oper-
ation of a lottery.”

These men had in theiv emplm‘ NUIerous cou-
trollers, collectors, and runners, who performed
the physical work of taking bets, ealenlating and
distributing the winnings, and bringing in the
profits to their superiors. In addition, there were
strong-arm men to keep the bankers and other
members of the Combination in line, bondsmen to
supply bail for those who were arrested, lawyvers
to represent those who were prosecuted, and
fixer at the race track to make suve that no heavily
plaved number could win.

There ean, therefore, be no question that, in
carrving on the nwmbers gawme, the smooth ruan-
ning machine created and operated by Schultz
and his confederates, involved certain of itz mem-
bers in contriving or proposing a lottery, or as-
sisting in one or the other of thase activities.

But if there could he any doubt concerning
performance of such acts, theve can be none at all
that the daily p'w-~<>ff by the Combination—de-
pending, as it did, upon the daily selee !
winning number by making the ealeniations above
desevibed {supra, po Tl—constifuted a ““mechan-

the

11 01 R/

teal act by which {he winner of the
. L% E % ey o N . PP : 3 M
prizes [was] determined” (Defendant’s
12,0 N . { 11, : B Trowssavrangn wverdletee 4

Sriet, po26Y, and benee, a drawing within the eon
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Consequently, since some of the members of
the Combination were engaged in the physical
task of *‘drawing’’ and selecting the winning num-
ber, it follows that the conspiracy necessarily in-
volved the commission of the crimes denounced
by section 1372.

The sole remaining question, therefore, relates
to Hines' pavticipation therein, though, we sub-
mit, even that seems to have been auswered by the
defendant’s concession that the evidence estab-
lished his membership in the conspiracy to com-
mit the erimes charged in the indictment (11575
208 App. Div,, at p. 467).

In the first place, it is apparent that every-
one in a criminal organization, such as the Com-
bination, is eriminally responsible for every act
done by any of its members in furtherance of
the conspiraey.?

See: People v. Luciano (1938) 277 N, Y. 348;
FPeople v, Crossman (1925) 241 N. Y. 1385,
145-146;
People v. Swersky (1916) 216 N. Y. 471,
477 ;
In re Disbarimont Proceedings (1936) 321

Pa. St. 81, 184 Atl. 59,

Y In passing, we note that the vse of the word “aush
in section 1372 does not predmc the uvp“m bilitv of sec-
tion 2 to that pmn\mn [See Peaple vo Senes {19206)
242 N, \ﬂ 550, afl’y 210 App. Dive 845 (Defendant’s
Court of Appeals Briet Cp. 1 I8 Appellate Division
Brief, pp. 2214, re huuw (SIS B AR \ubd O, of the
Penal L ] We eall the Court’s attention to the fact
that a large number of other sections of the Penal Taw
resemble section 1372 m thh regard, including, as they
doy sueh words as Tassist,” Cuid) and Cencourage.”! ( Sce
con, SUTR20IRS 303, L R ST FR20 705 889, jas,
960, 262, 974, 086, 087, 1030, 1081, 1140-a. H‘m b, 1250,
421, 1423 1427, 1710, 1962, 2034, 2052, 2152
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The language employed by this Court in the
("rossman case, supra, 241 N. Y. 138, seems par-
ticularly apt (pp. 145-146) :

“lach one had an appointed place in the
organization and in the operation of the ma-
chinery by which unsuspecting people were
drawn into the trap and defrauded of their

money, * * ¥
* ¥ *

“The criminal organization to which these
witnesses became parties, as a jury might
find, was unlimited in its scope and purpose.
It was not ereated for the purpose of fleecing -
any parbicular person but for the purpose of
defrauding any person who was tnnocent
enough to come within the area of s opera-
tion, * * * TIf that view is correct these wit-
nesses became parties to and were criminally
responsible for any transaction within the
scope of the conspiracy conducted by this
organization or any member of it in carry-
ing out its purpose.” (Italics ours.)

InIn re Disbarment Proceedings, supra, 321 Pa.
St. 81, 184 Atl. 39, the court was called upon to re-
view a situation very much like that here pre-
sented. It appeared that an attorney had become
affiliated with those who were running a poliey
racket and had been retained to represent its
members in eourt upon their avrest., The court
concluded that the strong-arm man, the bail pro-
curer, the poliey banker, and the lawyer were all
cogs in the eriminal enterprise and that each was
criminally responsible for the result achieved
(021 Pa. 8t at p. 86, 184 Atl, at pp. 61-62):

.

“The notoriows ‘public enemics’ who es-

tablished this racket had built up a smooth
rictng wachine wlerein one cog fits tuto an-
other. The writer is a cog; the p!ekup man is
a cog; the bail procurer is a cog: the strong-

arm sqnad is no more and no less a cog of




this machine than the inconspicuous clerk
who mans the adding machine at the numbers
bank. The attorney who knowingly partiei-
pates in such a racket by agreeing in advance
to regularly represent the organized crim-
inals and their henchmen is still another cog.”’
(Italics ours.)

Moreover, it has specifically been held that one
who—Ilike the defendant at bar—agrees to, and
does, protect others from arrest and prosecution
for their eriminal acts committed and to be com-
mitted, pursuant to a conspiracy previously en-
tered into, is a principal and criminally respon-
sible for the ensuing crime or crimes.

See: Collins v. United States (C. C. A. 5th
Cir. 1933) 63 Fed. (2d) 545, 547-548;
Cook v. United States (C. C. A. 8th Cir.
1928) 28 Fed. (2d) 730, 732;
Jezewski v, United .-S‘z‘are.e (C. C. A. 6th
Cir. 1926) 13 Fed. (2d) 599, 601-603;
Allew v, United States (€. C. A. Tth Cir.
1924) 4 Fed. (2d) 688§, 691-692, 694,
Cf.  People v. Corbalis (1904) 178 N. Y.
516, 592
State v. Ingram (19 ,) 204 N, C. 557,
D08, 168 8. 1. 8 7 838%.

In Collins v. United States, supra, 63 Fed. (2d)
543, Collins was a sheriff, and Brewer his deputy.
A group arranged to have liquor transported
as lumber and sawdust. Colling and Brewer
promised protection and thereafter accompanied
the trucks containing the liquor to the railroad
siding. In case of interference by federal agents,
they would pretend that the truck was already
under seizure.  The government subsequently
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seized two such box cars loaded with liguor.
Neither Collins nor Brewer had ever physically
“transported’’ any liquor, yet both were indieted
for, and convicted of, the substantive crime of
transporting liguor, as well as of a conspiracy to
violate the customs and prohibition laws.

Since the language is so peculiarly pertinent,
we take the liberty of quoting at some length from
the opinion of the Cireunit Court of Appeals which
affirmed the judgments of conviction. The court
said (pp. 047-548):

“It is true there was no evidence what-
ever to show that either Colling or Brewer
was actively engaged in the shipments of
the two carloads of liquor, and they denied
any parvticipation. And it mav be conceded
that, if an officer has knowledge that a erime
is to be committed or has actually been com-
mitted, and merely stands by and does noth-
ing to prevent the commission or to appre-
hend and punish the offenders, he is not
necessarily guilty of aiding and abetting ifs
commission, although he may be guilty of
malfeasance in office. But, where the officer
beforehand actively participates in the ar-
rangements for committing a erime and prom-
izes protection to others in ifs commission,
the situation is different, and it cannot be
said that he did not aid and ahet its com-
mission * * %,

& & &

“The court charged the jury, in substance,
that, if the sheritf and his deputy kuew about
the liquor being transported and entered
into an agreement to protect the persons
transporting it while they put it into cars,
they were to be considered as principals. It
does net appear that anv objeetion was made
to this part of the charge nor was anyv con-
trarv instruction requested, although eleven
gpeeial charges were presented to the court,

%,
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Regarvdless of that, there is no doubt the
charge correctly stated the law. The verdiet
was responsive to the charge, and there was
sufficient evidence to support it.”’

The decision in Cook v. United Staies, supra,

28 Fed. (2d) 730, ig similar. There, the court

(2

«(“d (p- 73’2):

“It is our opinion that where an officer
agrees to afford a person criminally inclined
protection from arrest and prosecution for
the commission of crime, such officer is as
much an actor in the commission of such crime
physiecally comimitted by the person to whom
the protection is afforded as one whe aids by
standing gnard while another person phys—
ically commits a crime. Bdlingsley v. U. S.
(C. CU AL 8) 16 FL (2d) 754; Allen v. U. S,
(C. C. A7) 4 F. (2nd) 688, 692; Jezewski v.
U.8. (C.C.A 6) 13 F. (211(1) 599, 601, 602,
There can be no doubt that the ﬁmt payment
of $10 made by Jimerson and reeecived by
Cox and Cook induneed Jmmn«on to believe
that he was being f}ffmd‘bd protection and
induced him to violate the National Prohibi-
tion Act by selling whiskey, and in this way
tended to effect the unlawtul object of the
Qgpczmvnpv e

The langunage in the i”{ noer m wzpz@, 4 Ted.

NOTA R BN
Jd) 685, Is alse most apt {p.

“Wheve individuals agree or have a com-
non understanding to grant to those selling
mtoexicating nqum uwmp;n‘ v from prisen
sentence, the case is brought within the stat-
ute, for such immunity has for its real object
the mammuung of common nuisanees as de-
fined by the Volstead Law, as well as the
manuimimuu, transportation, and sale of
intoxicating liguors.




“All of them were actors, though some
played but a minor or insignificant part in
the plot. The enterprise called for pawns
as well as kings—the human wrecks found
in the houses of vice as well as the highest
public officials in the city. -All the jury was
required to find was a guilty participation,
knowingly undertaken. The degree of moral
turpitude was immaterial.”’

These cases involve law enforcement officers,
but that in no way affects the principles they ex-
press. The promised protection—whether hy a
public official, or by a Iines who can control pub-
lic officials in the conduct of their official duties—
aids and abets in, and encourages, the crimes
thereafter committed.

The record reveals that the defendant Hines
was interested in a geing eriminal concern and
that it was to his advantage that the business
continue to produece large profits. He was in-
terested in seeing that no law enforcing author-
ities interfered with, or hampered, its smooth and
cfficient operation. The very nature of the venture
entailed constant and repeated violations of law,
and it was his function to guarantee that the
conspiracy and its members had a license to com-
mit erimes in the future. There is no doubt that
the success of his interference in the police depart-
ment, in the distriet attorney’s office, and in the
eriminal courts, was a constant induecement and
encouragement to his.co-conspirators to continue
their violations of the law ““and in this way tended
to effect the unlawful objeet of the conspiraey.’”
[Cook v. United States, supra, 28 Fed. {2d) 730,
732.1 His efforts were aimed at removing the
physical obstacles that impeded the activities of
these eriminals,  He reduced the likelihood of
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raids which disrupted the very conduct prohibited
by the statute, namely, the ““contriving, proposing
and drawing’’ of the daily lottery, the handling
“of slips, and the selection and payment of win-
ners; and he assured the dismissal, in the mag-
istrates’ court, of cases which would otherwise
have frightened the employvees, crippled the
banks, and destroyed the confidence of the players.

As the Appellate Division wrote (11581; 258
App. Div,, at p: 468) :

“The People’s evidence tended to show that
his contribution to the eriminal purpose was
the protection from prosecution and pun-
ishment for crime committed and to be com-
mitted pursuant thereto.  Indeed, the
People’s proof was to the effect that the ‘num-
bers game’ could not have been carried on
without such protection. Certainly, in render-
ing such service, defendant was lending co-
operation.”’

To argue that one who provides protection per-
forms Just another iucidental act, similar to the
letting of premises for lottery purposes, is to lose
sight of the distinction that we have already noted
(supra, pp. 67-69). In other words, while one
who lets premises may he prosecuted under see-
tion 1381 of the Penal Law, he mayv also be
charged with violating seetion 1272 when he acts
in coneert and cooperation with the persons who
contrive, propose or draw a lottery. So, in the
present case, Hines conld unguestionably have
been proseeuted for counspiring to obstruet jus-
tice. However, his guilt of that additional erime
affords him no defense when prosecuted for vie-
lating seetion 1372 in view of the faet that he

as a member of the conspiraey to commit the
erimes charged in the indictment and was delib-
erately acting in concert with those operating and
condueting the lottery.  [See, swupra, pp. 67-69;
Commomecalth v, Harris, supra, 95 Mass., 534,
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539-540; State v. Chin Kee Woy, supra, 147 Wash.
194, 265 Pac. 460 ; State v. Louwie, supra, 138 Wash.
430, 247 Pac. T28.]1 '

In brief, the proof of the defendant’s conscicus
participation in the Combination’s eriminal enter-
prise—together with his concession compelled
thereby—coneclusively establishes him as a prin-
cipal in-each of the substantive erimes committed
in furtherance of the conspiracy. As the viola-
tion of section 1372 was a daily activity of the
Combination, the defendant Hines was properly
convicted of the erimes charged in the indictment.

POINT III

The prosecution for conspiracy was not
barred by the statute of limitations [In answer
to Defendant’s Brief, Point IV, pp. 42-50;
Point V, pp. 50-63].

The defendant was convieted of twelve substan-
tive crimes and of the erime of conspirvacy. The
argument under this point is addressed solely to
the propriety of the conspiracy convietion. Kven
if the indictment had not contained a charge of
congpiracy, the People would have been entitled
to show that the defendant and others had been
engaged in a conspiraey and had, pursuant to
that scheme, pertformed aets that aided, abetted,
or otherwise assisted in the commission of the
ervimes charged.  In other words, all of the evi-
denee adduced in this case is relevant to, and
hears upon, the twelve substantive counts charged
i the indictment,

See: People v. Luciano (1938) 277 N. Y. 348,
a08, ef seq
People v, (rossman (1925) 241 N. Y,
138;
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People v. Swersky (1916) 216 N, Y. 471;

People v. Becker (1915) 215 N. Y. 126;

People v. Cassidy (1915) 213 N. Y. 388;

People v. McKane (1894) 143 N. Y. 455;

People v. dlezander (1st Dept. 1918) 183
App. Div. 868. 4

A. Count One sufficiently alleged o conspiracy
within the statutory period of limitations [In an-
swer to Defendant’s Brief, Point IV, pp. 42-50].

The first count specifically charges that the con-
spiracy  continued from Mareh, 1931, through
January 13, 1937. The indictment was filed on
May 26, 1938. Thus, we submit, it affirmatively
appears that it was seasonably commenced. More-
over, at the trial, the uncontradicted evidence
showed not only that the conspiracy continued at
least until October, 1936, but also that the de-
fendant Hines continued to receive pavments for
his part therein until that time.

The defendant argues that, although the con-
spiracy is charged to have continued through Jan-
uary 13, 1937, the indictment is faulty because
the last overt act therein set forth occurred more
than two years before the prosecution was be-
gun., Consequently, the question, simply stated,
is this: where a defendant is with
conspiracy to commit a given erime and where
the indictment and proof show that the conspiracy
continuned well into the period of limitations pro-
vided by statute, may the defendant escape prose-
cution beeause none of the particular overt aets
alleged in the indietment took place within that
time, even though miany overt acts—daily acts
for that matter-—continued far inte the statutory
period ¥

[ N . 1
charged
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We think that an examination of the statutes
involved will readily demonstrate that the legis-
lature intended to provide no such technical im-
munity. :

Section 275 of the Code of Criminal Procedure
states that the indictment must contain

““A plain and concise statement of the acts

constituting the crime * * *.7
Our problem, then, is to determine the nature
of “‘the act constituting the erime’’ of conspiracy.
We accordingly ask the Court’s indulgence while
we examine, with some particularity, the function
of the overt act under the statutes relating to
conspiracy.

Section 580-—bearing the significant title, ““Def-
inition and punishment of conspiracy’’—defines
the crime and sets forth the only clements that
need be alleged. That section provides that ‘“If
two or more persons conspire: 1. To commit a
crime’” or to commit other specified acts, ¢ Each
of them is guilty of a misdemeanor.”” The fol-
lowing section (§ 581) deals with-the conspiraey to
commit treason, and section 582 declares that

is one of those enumerated in the last two see-
tions.”” This, then, is the criminal offense, the
prohibited act.'

10 Tn this connection, we note the Court’s recent holding
in People v, Silverman (1939) 281 N. Y. 457, wherein
it was said (p. 460):

“The gravamen of the crime of conspiracy is the
corrupt agreement. (Feople v. Flack, 125 N. Y.
324 People v. Tavorming, 257 N. Y. 83" See,
also, United States v. Kissel {19103 218 U. S. 601,
609-610.
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Section 583, however, provides:

«“No agreement except to commit a felony
upon the person of another, or to commit
arson or burglary, amounts to a conspiracy,
unless some act heside such agreement be
done to effect the object thexeof by one or
more of the parties to such domement ”

This seetion does not provide that a conspiracy
is not committed unless something else is done,
but specifies that ¢*No agreement’” is to be treated
as a conspiracy unless some act is done to carry
it into effect. The purpose of this section is read-
ily apparent; it affords a locus poenitentiac for
those who wish to repudiate the eriminal agree-
ment before any overt act is done to effect its ob-
jeet. It is no uncommon occurrence for a number
of criminals to explore, in their discussions, the
possibilities of a particular erime or other pro-
hibited aect, and even to agree upon its commission
at some time in the future. Manifestly, the legisla-
ture did not believe that such a talk alone was of
sufficient importance—except in the specific in-
stances enumerated in section 583—to warrant the
prosecution and conviction of the participants for
a crime. If no affirmative action be taken, the law
chooses to overlook the improper and morally
reprehensible attitude of incipient evildoers.

Thus, it seems patent that an agreement to com-
mit a erime plus an overt act spells out the pros-
ecutable conspiracy. In short, if a conspiracy is
charged in an indictment and it appears there-
from that an overt act was actually committed
after the arrangement was entered into, the act
eﬂmﬁtuﬁnq the erime—within the meaning of
section 275 of the Code—is set forth.

In order to further effectuate its poliey and
affirmatively place upon the prasecution the bur-
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den of showing that the conspiracy agreement was
not repudiated and that an overt act had been
committed after that agreement was entered into,
the legislature enacted section 398 of the Code
of Criminal Procedure. That provides, in part,
that ‘

““Upon a trial for a conspiracy in a case
where an overt act is necessary to constitute
the crime, the defendant cannot be convicted,
unless one or more overt acts be expressly
alleged in the indietment, nor unless one or
more of the acts alleged be proved * * *.”’

Lest, however, this be construed as limiting the
People’s right to introduce evidence of other overt
acts at the trial, the section contains the addi-
tional statement: \

“‘but any other overt act not alleged in the
indictment, may be given in evidence.”’

In the light of these prineiples, the sufficiency
of the first count is, we respectfully submit, be-
yvond question. In addition to satisfying the re-
quirements of the Penal Law (§583) and of the
Code of Criminal Procedure (§398) by setting
forth fifteen overt acts, the indictment specifically
and in no uncertain terms charges that the con-
spiracy continned “up to and ineluding January
13, 1937, a date considerably less than two years
prior to the commencement of the prosecution.
There is neither basis nor authority for the argu-
ment that there must be further allegation of an
overt act within the same statutory period.

The attitude taken by the courts toward the ef-
feet of the overt acts alleged in the indietment is
strikingly presented by the case of United States
v. Downing (C. C. A 2nd Cir. 1931) 51 Fed.
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(2d) 1030, involving a prosecution for conspir-
acy to import intoxicating liquors. The indiet-
ment charged a conspiracy formed in Ontario,
and alleged certain overt aects, some committed in
Buffalo, and at least one in Ontario. Jurisdiction
was laid in the United States Distriet Court upon
the strength of the overt acts alleged to have been
commitied in Buffalo. At the trial, the proof
broke down as to these acts and was sufficient to
establish only the act charged to have been done
in Ontario.  Another act performed in Duffalo
was proved though not alleged. The language
used in affirming the judgment of convietion is
enlightening. Judge Learned Hand, writing for

Y

the court, said (p. 1031):

““Again, it is true that in those cases the
indictment laid, and the evidence provod, an
overt act within the jurisdiction, and that it
was upon this that the court relied. That
was not true here, because while the Indiet-
ment laid overt acts in Buttalo, t'h«“‘* }mm’
broke down as to them, being <uflicient only
as to an overt act laid in ODutario. Hm\evez‘,
the (*onxpnac 1« the crime (Hyde v Shine,
199 L b Gu, 20 5. CL z()u, ol L LHI 6t ), ihe
nvert act 18 n(m(’emm only to show that

()

av p
formance has begua, “and it may be laid out-

4"‘;} T

102 UL

it
side the jurisdiction [Dealy v. U, 8.,
S. 539, 547, 14 S, (1 wx 38 L. B 5da;
(';’;(%»N? AR U. 8.9 1‘ (2d) 846, 303 (C. C. Al
8) 1. Siee }anndufmn uvpmd upon where
the erime s committed, and it is committed
wherever any part of 'iw aureement 18 per-
formed, the act of performance relied upon
need not be an ov 31% act faid in the indiet-
ment.”” (Ttalies ours.}

It the vital element of jurisdiction can be thus
based upon an overt act not alleged in the indiet-
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ment, there can, by like reasoning, be no objection
to the analogous procedure of satisfying the stat-
ute of limitations by proof of overt aets not set
forth in that indictment, particularly in view of
(1) the specific allegation that the conspiracy con-
tinued to operate and function until January,
1937, and (2) the specific legislative provision
for the admission of auny and all overt acts
whether alleged or not.

The defendant has placed his reliance solely
upon inapplicable cases decided in the federal
courts (Defendant’s Brief, pp. 45, 49), none of
which holds that an indietment which charges a
conspiracy continuing within the statutory pe-
riod is insufficient if it does not also allege an
overt act within that time. The cases cited in-
volve indictments of two sorts: first, those where
the commission of the conspiracy was not alleged
to have continued within the statutory period, and
‘no overt act was set forth within that time—that
is, both the conspiracy and the overt aets were
bevond the statutory period ! and, second, cases
wherein there was an allegation .that the con-
gpiracy continuned to within three years (the
statutory period) of the beginning of the prose-

Win United States v. Mcllvain (1926 272 Ul S,
633, the indictment charged a conspiracy. The facts were
as follows:

Pros'n

Conspiracy Overt Act Stat'y Pd. Begun

Jan. 1920-Apr. 1921 Mar 1921 JSyears Oct. 1924

Thus, the conspiracy, according o the allegation, did not
continue to within the statutory pertod, and the overt act
charged was not committed within that time.
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cution, and where the overt act alleged was also
within that period.”” _

In the former case the prosecution, of course,
failed, aud in the latter it was successful. But
neither situation was anvthing like the one now
bhefore this Court.

Relianee upon Hyde v, United m‘af()\ (1011)
225 UL 8. 347, is cequally unavailing. There, the
Court merely held that the defendant, charged
with the erime of conspiracy, could he prosecnied
not aloue where the agreement was formulated,
but also where an overt act alleged in the indiet-
went and proved at the trial was committed.

The defendant, however, has sought to tak(‘*
advantage of eertain language which, in and hy it-

12y RBrown v. Elliott (1911) 225 U, 8. 392, the facts

were as follows: p rosn
Conspiracy Overt Act Stat’y Pd
1905-Feb. 1909 July 1807 Jyears

Thus, the conspiracy was charged o have continued to
within the statutory period, and an overt act was alleged to
have heen committed within that time. Morcover, the de-
fendant's claim was simply that the statute of huitations
should be computed not from the date down through
which it was alleged the conspiracy conunued, or from the
overt act set {orth in the mdictment, but {vom the varfiest
date alleged, namely, 1905, when the conspiracy appar-
ently came inte being, The Conrt aercly held dhat the
statute did not run from the ii'm‘- the conspiracy coni-
menced, but from the date when the st act done pursuant
to it was committed,

Hedderly v. United States (U0 U0 2\ il Cir, 1912

103 JFed. 301, presents facts very much hke those m the
Brown case, supre. The {acts there were:

g
S
&

‘(ﬂﬂ{ ey (W(;I Act Sy il

1901-Aug. 1904 Aug. 1901 3 vears

Thus, the conspiracy was charged o have o

within the statutory period. and an overt aot was
have been comun .hui within that e, '
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self and divorced from the facts of the case,
seems to support the proposition that the statute
of limitations runs from the last overt act al-
leged and proved (Defendant’s Brief, pp. 46-47).
Language is not to be removed from its context
or considered without regarvd to the faets that
prompted its use. Surely the Court, by its use of
the language appeaving in the detendant’s brief,

did -not intend to rule upon a state of facts that |
was alien and quite unlike those before it Words
and phrases which are intended to cover a par-
ticular situation should not bhe extended or
strained to cover other situations that have no
resemblance or hearing to the facts upon which
the court is passing. [Sce Jatier of Green v.
Miller (1928) 249 N, Y. 88, 97.] This same thonght
was expressed by Judge Nott in denving a motion
to dismiss the conspiracy count on the ground now
urged (201-2).

B. The evidence fully established the continu-
ance of the conspiracy and the performance of
overt acts within the statutory period of lmita-
tions [In answer to Defendant’s Brief, Point V,
pp. 50-63].

There was, of course, no proof that Hines had
withdrawn from the conspiracy, and he makes
no sueh elaim. It is his contention, however, that
the evidence failed to establish that the conspir-
acy continued beyond Schultz’ death in 1935, The
argument is without foundation. The evidence
of both Weinberg and Schoenhaus is to the effeet
not only that the conspiracy continued at least
through the fall of 1936, but that Hines con-
tinued to be paid for hix serviees until Oetoher
of that wvear,

The argument that, since Sehultz had domi-
nated the conspiracy, his murder put an end to it,
finds no support in the cases. On the contrary,
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it is settled that a conspiracy is not terminated
merely because some of the conspirators with-
draw from it or die.
See: Marimo v. United States (C. C. A. 9th
Cir. 1937) 91 Fed. (2d) 691, 696;
Telman v. United States (C. C. A. 10th
Cir. 1933) 67 Fed. (2d) 716;
Johnson v. United States (C. C. A, 9th
o Cir. 1932) 62 Fed. (2d) 32;
Marcante v. United States (C.C, A, 10th
CCir. 1931) 49 Fed. (2d) 156;
Rudner v. United States (C. C. A. 6th
Cir. 1922) 281 Fed. 516.

In Marcante v. United States, supra, 49 Fed.
(2d) 156, it was said (pp. 156-157): '
“There is no doubt that there can be a
conspiracy to violate the liquor laws in a
dozen different localities; such a conspiracy
may be a continuing onc; actors may drop
out, and others drop in; the details of op-
eration may change from time to time; the
members need not know each other, or the
part played by others; a member need not
know all the details of the plan or the opera-
tions; he must, however, kzm“ the purpose
of the conspiracy and agree to bocomo a
party to a plan to effectuate that purpose.’

Moreover, it affirmatively appears from the
evidence that Weinberg and Schoenhaus, who
had a complete knowledge of the details of the
conspiracy, conducted themselves after their lead-
er’s death just as they had while he was alive;
that they and Maloney and Flores continued the
operation of certain of the Combination’s banks
and maintained the Combination’s records until
October, 1936 (3665-75, 4533-44).
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As a matter of fact, the People not only proved
that the conspiracy continued to exist, but that it
continued to pay Hines for his services at the rate
of $250 a week until the fall of 1936. Weinberg
testified that, on seven or cight separate occasions
tn 1936, he paid Hines a thousand dollars (2822):

“Q. How often did you give money to
Hines in the year 19362 A. Well, maybe
seven or eight times or so during that time.

“@Q. During that year, and in what sums
were those made? A. Well, they were made
in sums of generally a thousand dollars.”’

The defendant’s statement (Defendant’s Brief,
p. 54) that it was Weinberg’s testimony that he
made these seven or cight pavments “from the
fall of 1935 into the vear 1936," and not ““in
7936, is belied by the record: he cleavly and un-
equivocally testified that those parments werve
made ‘‘in the vear 193677 (2822).

Since Hines was being compensated at the rate
of $250 a week for his services (2819), each of the
thousand dollar payments represented a month’s
services. If Hines received seven or eight such
payments, simple caleulation-—not speculation, as
the defendant maintains (Defendant’s Brief, p.
54)—establishes that these pavments to Hines
must have continued through August or Septem-
ber of 1936.

Schoenhaus’ testimony, furthermore, is clear
beyond cavil. Ile stated in no uncertain terms
that Hines received payments of a thousand dol-
lars, representing compenszation for four week
periods, until October, 1936, Thus, he testified

(4492-6) :

7

“Q. How long did that weekly charge of
$250 continue? A. Until the Dutehman was
killed.
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“Q. Then, after that dxd it (,()ntlnue A.
Yes, sir.

“Q. Weekly or in different fo,mse A,
$1,000 about every four weeks.

“Q. On each occasion did you give the
money to George? A. Yes, sir.

“Q. $1,000 was about for four weeks, then?
A, About for four weeks; ves, sir. [4492]

L * *

““Q. How long did it continue? A. It con-
tinued until October, 1936.

Q. What happened in October of 1936
with reference to George Weinberg? A.
Well, Georg‘e W ember«r Went away about No-
Vomb , 1936.

“Q. He quit his bank, did he? A. Yes.

““Q. And from that time on you had no
more charges to Hines? A. No, sir.

“Q.F * = That payment until October of
1936 was in what sums? A, $1,000, [4495-4]

Q. Was it then sometimes in sums dif-
ferent from $1,0007 A, No, it was $1,000
every time it was paid; it was $1,000.

“Q, That is all T wanted to know., But
whew awas the last payment of that kind
made? A, In October.

“@Q. Of nineteen—— A, About a month
before George left.

“Q. October of 19367 A, 1936, [4495-6]"°

This entire question of whether there was a
continuing conspiracy, and whether it lasted to
within the statutory period, or whether prosecn-
tion therefor was barred, was left to the jury by
instructions that were eclear and eminently fair.
The judge first chavged (11145}

“‘there has to be some proof of the exist-
enee of the conspiracy and the overt act later
than May 28, 1936, that is to say, within the
two-vear limitation. That is a qumﬁa’m fm‘
vou to decide. That is a disputed pomt.’
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He then explained the contentions of the People
and of the defendsut, and concluded by directing

(11147) .

“If you find that the Statute of Limitations
has run against the conspiracy, the misde-
meanor eount you will acquit on that * * *.?

In addition, at the defendant’s request, the court
charged ‘‘the State must prove * * * beyond a
reasonable doubt’’ that the conspiracy continued
to a time within the statutory period (11279).

Nor can it be claimed that the jury were not
fully advised that they had to find whether it was
the original conspiracy that continued; the court’s
charge upon that subject was in the cleavest sort
of language (11291, 11293, 11295-6, 11303-4):

““The Court: I will charge that if that con-
spiracy ended then counsel is correct in say-
ing that there would have to be evidence that
Hines went into a new conspiracv. On the
other hand, if the original conspiracy did not
end, but was carried on, then, as I have al-
ready told you, the participation of the de-
fendant is presumed unless there is some act
showing that he withdrew. [11291]

L #* W

“‘The question is whether the conspiracy
itself, the original conspiracy, continues.
[11293]

% #* ¥

““Mr. Stryker: Whether that conspiraey
which is the congpiracy testified to by Wein-
berg continued after Schultz’s death. That
is the point.

“The Court: W’hethu‘it co ed? If i

ntinu
ended before his death, at his death, or after
has a,f:(z,clz,; then the conspiracy did not ewist;
and the question for the jury is whetlier i did
or not. [11303-41°
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The conspiracy was properly alleged in the
indictment; the specific finding by the jury that
the conspiracy continued fo within the statutory
period was fully supported by uncontradicted
~ testimony.

POINT 1V

The minutes of the hearings before Magis-
trates Capshaw and Erwin were properly ad-
mitied in evidenece [In answer to Defendant’s
Brief, Point ITL, pp. 31-41].

As already noted, the defendant Hines’ prin-
cipal function in the conspiracy was to conserve
the Combination’s man-power and to enhance its
prestige by protecting its members from prose-
cution. This he was generally able to do by exer-
cising his influence with the Police Department.
On three ocecasions, however, the police did arrest
important members of the Combination, and
Hines was foreed to employ the services of two
judicial officers, Magistrates Erwin and Capshaw,
to sceure their release (supra, pp. 21-36).

Davis and Weinberg both testified that they
had spoken about those three cases to Hines and
that he had each time indicated that he wounld
have them thrown out in the Magistrates’ Court.

At Hines’ behest, the magistrates—~Capshaw in
two instances, and Erwin in the other—agreed teo,
and did, conduct hearings in cases brought against
members of the Combination, and agreed fo, and
did, discharge the prisoners before them in spite
of conclusive evidence of guilt,

The minutes of those procecdings in the ]
o

trates” Court were introduced by the People upon
the present trial




92

A strikingly similar sitvation is found in
People v. Kerr (Oyer and Terminer N. Y. Co.’
1889) 6-N. Y. Cr. 406, where records showing the
bribetakers’ conduct were held to have been prop-
erly received in a prosecution against the bribe-
giver. The defendant, an officer of a street rail-
road company, was charged with having given
bribes to members of the New York City Board
of Aldermen in order to obtain a certain fran-
chise. One of these, the accomplice Fullgraff, tes-
tified to the bribery and also to the fact that, in
consideration of the bribe, a majority of the Board
had privately agreed among themselves to vote in
favor of the railroad company. More, the official
minutes of the Board meetings were admitted to
show the conduct, actions, aad votes of each mem-
ber, although none of _them\\vas on frial. The
court charged that these winutes eawld he, canc

sidered agamst the defendant, and, substantially,

““a cireumstance indicating that Fullgraff and
the other persons acting with him were acting
in obedience to some arrangement, secret un-
derstanding, that had induced and bound
these persons together to act together upon
the disposition of these subjects.’”’

The court further instructed the jury (p. 467):

“Those proceedings are admitted so far as
they tend to indicate what the motive was
upon the minds of the persons who were sus-
taining and voting for those proceedings, not
because they make out an indietment itself,
but becaunse they tend to establish what was
the understanding or state of mind of Full-
graff and the others with him prior to this vote
on the 30th of August, 1884,

So, too, the minutes in the present case were
introdueed to assist the jury in determining




93

“‘what the motive was upon the minds of’’ the
magistrates in dismissing the cases before them,
and to corroborate Davis and Weinberg who tes-
tified that such a “‘motive” had been supplied by
the command of Hines.

Although his objections to the admission of the
records are confused, the defendant secems to com-
plain of their receipt upon the ground that they
constituted hearsay evidence and thus violated
his right to be confronted with the witnesses who
had testified before the magistrates (Defendant’s
Brief, pp. 40-41), and, further, that they could, at
best, show only that the magistrates had errved in
dismissing the cases (Defendant’s Brief, pp. 33-
34, 40). The first elaim is absurd, the second with-
out basis.

The records were not presented to establish
the truth of the facts therein, and there was no
such issue before the jury. Those facts—that
each of the prisoners before the magistrates had
been engaged in the numbers game—were never
disputed by the defendant Hines. It follows that
neither the hearsay rule nor the Civil Rights Law
was in any way involved. [See 3 Wigmore on
Evidence (24 ed.) pp. 770-773, §1766.]

Nor was the probative effect of the minutes
limited, either inherently or hy the eourt’s charee,
to a showing that the magistrates had erred. On
the contrary, the circuwmstances whieh they dis-
closed—the compelling nature of the proof before
the magisirates; their outrageous indifference to
evidenee and law; their contrasting treatment of
the witnesses for the two sides (e.g., Capshaw’s
harsh handling of the policemen testifying for
the prosecution and his extraordinary tenderness
for the defendant Roseneranz alias Silverstein):
and, in short, their general attitude and demeanor
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in conducting the proceedings—all pointed in-
evitably to the presence of an ocutside cm*rjpt‘?ncr
influence, as testified to by the People’s witnesse

Upon this showing, the jury were to ﬁnd_and
they were so instrueted by the ecourt (see, infra,
pp. 103-105)—whether the magistrates’ decisions
represented their own judgments or were ac-
tuated by Hines’ demands.

A. The Magistrates’ Court records constitute an
integral and proper part of the People’s proof

When the minutes of the several magistrates’
court cases were offered in evidence, it had al-
ready been established—as to cach of those cases
—that one or niore important members of the
Combination had been arrested by the police:
that the evidence in the hands of the police was
well nigh conclusive: that the matter had been
diseussed with Hines, and that he had uundertaken
to find a magistrate who would dispose of the
case; that Hines had subsequently directed that
the case be bronght on before the particular
magistrate involved, saving that such magistrate

ad agreed to dismiss the case regarvdless of the
mz,tm“e of the evidence; and, finally, that that

N - . 1 - - . : o] - £
magistrate did conduet a hiearing and—pursuant
to his agrecment with o 3 i

charee of the prisoner or prizoners het
Smcv Hines had thus procured the a
" Magistrates Erwin and Capshaw in carrying

out his task of “‘protecting’’ the members of the

Combination, it follows thuat, in their ot

L

the cases brought hefore thens at Hines™ dh
the two magistrates were acting as his Heuten
ants. and that their judicial fanctions were exer-
cised in pursuance of the criminal conspiraey
RITCAW

chareed in the indietment. I they actuall
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of the numbers game conspiracy and of Hines’
participation in it, and deliberately became a
part of it, then the evidence of their activities,
embodied in the minutes of the particular hear-
ings, was properly admitted under the rule per-
mitting proof of the acts and declarations of co-
conspirators.

If, on the other hand, Capshaw and Erwin were
unaware that their corrupt discharge of Wein-
berg, Rosencranz, and the others, was part of any
greater scheme or erime, the result would still be
the same. For then, even though they may not
“have been guilly of eonspirinw they were, never-
theless, agents of Hines for the specific purpose
of performing the acts disclosed by the evidence
now under attack. Of course, evidence of the
acts which the agent commits at the instance of
the principal, 1s admissible against the latter in
a criminal prosecution.

See: People v, Clougher (1927) 246 N. Y. 106,
113;
People v Mills (1904) 178 N, Y. 274, 288,
aff’e (Ist Dept. 1904) 91 App. Div.
331, 339-40;
People v, Peckens (1897) 1563 N. Y. 576,
D83;

People v. MK ane {1804) 143 N, Y. 450,
459

Poople vo Sherman {1882) 1833 N. Y. ¢
305

United Stafes v, Gies (1836) 300 U,
41, 49;

United States v, Gooding (1827) 25 UL 8,
$60;

Wood v. United Staies {(C0C0 AL dth Cir
1956) 84 Fed, (2d) 749, cert. den. 2U9
7. S, HRI, 623
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Hamburg-American Steam Packet Co. v.
United States (C. C. A. 2nd Cir. 1918)
250 Fed. 747, cert. den. 246 U. S. 662;

Morse v. United States (C. C. A. 2nd Cir.
1909) 174 Fed. 539;

Commonwealth v. Harley (1844) 48
Mass. 462, 463; '

State v. Sweeney (1930) 180 Minn, 450,
231 N. W. 225;

Commonwealth v. Wiswesser (1939) 134
Pa. Super. Ct. 488, 3 Atl, (2d) 983.

One of the earliest expressions of the rule by
which a prineipal is eriminally bound by the acts
and declarations of his agent, is found in the
leading case of United States v. Gooding, supra,
25 U. 8. 460. There, the defendant was indicted
for slave trading. It appeared that he had en-
gaged a captain to outfit and command a ship to
be used in that business. A witness testified that
the captain, in endeavoring to engage him as
mate for the voyage, told him that the vovage
was for slaves, that he would obtain as part of
his wages a percentage for every slave sold, and
that the defendant, who was the owner of the
ship, wonld see to it that the erew was paid. The
defendant objected to this testimony as not bind-
ing upon him, but the Court {per Story, J.) over-
ruled the contention, saying (p. 469):

“‘The argnment is, that the testimony is not
admissible, because, in ecriminal ecases, the
declarations of the master of the vessel are
not evidence to charge the owner with an of-
fence; and that the doctrine of the binding
effect of such declarations by known agents,
is, and ought to be, confined to civil cases.
We cannot yield to the force of the argn-
ment. In general, the rules of evidence in
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criminal and civil cases are the same. What-
ever the agent does, within the scope of his
authority, binds his pnnupal, and is deemed
his act. It must, indeed, be shown, that the
agent has the authout), and that the act is
within its scope; but these being conceded or
proved, either b\' the course of business, or
b} express authovization, the same conclu-
sion arises, in point of Ln\ in both cases.
Nor is thexe any authority tox confining the
rule to civil cases. On the contrary, it is the
known and familier principle of criminal Jur-
isprudence, that le acho commands, or pro-
cures a eritme to be done, af it be done, 1s guilty
of the crime, and the act is his act. This s so
true, that even the agent may be innocent,
when the procurer or pnumpal may be con-
victed of guilt, as in the case of infants or
idiots, employed to administer poison. The
proof of the command or procurement, may
be direet or indirect, positive or circumstan-
tial; but this is matter for the consideration
of the jury, and not of legal competency.”
(Italics ours.)

Similarly, in People v. Peckens, supra, 183 N. Y.
576, this Court said (p. 583) :

“‘what one does or procures to be done
through the ageney of another is to be re-
garded as done by him.”’

People v. McKane, supra, 143 N Y. 455,
singularly apposite case. There, the def endant
was charged with "’ioiating a provision of the
Kleetion Law which required that lists of the reg-
istered voters be prepared and made acecessible
to the publie for examination. The theory of
the prosceution was that the defendant was the
leader of a conspiracy including various officials
of the town and members of the political party in
control, and having for its purpose the cast-
ing of a large fraudulent vote at the cleetion,
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It was shown that various citizens were ob-
structed in their attempts to secure registry lists,
and that, when they sought to obtain these lists
to watch at the polls, some of them were
beaten, others arrvested and hmprisoned. Ap-
parently, the only proof relied upon to connect
the defendant with these acts was evidence that
he enjoved great political power, that he held
numerous political offices in the town and con-
trolled the others, and that hie had made attempts
to bring about a fraudulent election. This Court
held the evidence of the assaunlts and arrvests
properly rveceived, saying (pp. 470-471):

“The circumstances of the arrest of the
persons at the town hall who were in search
of the lists or watching the election were
admissible since, upon the evidence, they
could be attributed to the defendant, at least
so far as they transpived in his presence, or
so far as the acts were done by his procure-
ment. That part of the proot which related
to the acts of others, cooperating with the
defendant and in fartheraunce of the common
purpose, was also competent upon the prin-
ciple already stated.”’

In the Clowgher case, supra. 246 N. Y. 106, the
defendant, a seceretary to the New York ity
Health Commissioner, was convicted of bribers,
Tho Nestles Food € ompanv, interested in obtain-

g permission to marvket cream from its daivies
in Wisconsin, made a contract with one Dan-
ziger under which he was to receive one dollar
for each can of ¢ream shipped into New York Citw
and sold by him. Between the sunnuer of 1923
and August of 1924 Danziger (mm testified for
the People) saw the defendant on numerous oeea-

sions and discussed the pnsmiui v oof seeuring a
permit for the sale of the cream. The defendant




assured him that he would take care of the matter.
Thereafter the defendant advised the Health
Clommissioner that western cream was a neces-
gity. In Aungust, 1924, while the commissgioner was
on vacation, not the defendant but a friend of 1 s,
an assistant secrvetary, telephoned the commis-
sioner and told him that theve was a stringeney in
the supply of cream.  Actually, cream was then no
searcer than at the corresponding season in any
other vear, Relving on the facts given him by the
assistant sceretary, the commissioner approved
the issuance of a temporary permit. On appeal; it

vas urged that the proof that the permit was ap-
proved by the commissioner upon recomuiendation
of the assistant secretary should have been ex-
cluded on the ¢rvound that there was no proof
that the defendant had anvthing to do with the
matter. T‘his Court upheld the introduction of

the evidence, stating {(p. 113)

“No direet ‘pmuf was produced that de-

fendant eaused his subordinate, the assistant

seeretary, to nduce the commissioner to ap-

prove the permit.  Nevertheless, the rela-

tmna t\E&T ing be tween these {wo seerefaries,
n
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“Finally, appellant contends that certain
of the evidence which was admitted on the
frial of this case was hearsay and as such
should have been excluded. In bill No. 204,
Wiswesser was charged with embracery and
solicitation to commit embracery, the juror
in question being Carrie Miller. D, J. Miller,
her husband, testified as {o conversations
with Wiswesser in which Wiswesser asked
Miller to talk to his wife about the case and
promised she should have a new dress. Mrs.
Miller was allowed to testity as to her con-.
versation with her husband in which he told
her of the conversation with Wiswesser, ® * *
“If one in attempting corrvuptly to influence
a Juror makes use of an agent to extend the
proumiises or other means of influencing the
juror, the acts of the agent done in attempt-
ed fulfithment of his Instructions and his con-
versations with the jurors pursnant thereto,
are admissible in evidence against the prin-
cipal.  If an :fz;:*ent is cmploved or used to
deliver a verbal message or to make oral
promises to a juror, his conversations pur-
suant to such employment coustitute the act
he was engaved to perform, and w;';dem e may
be given of i, as of any other act done hy the
agent on bo} f of the prinecip .ﬁ, and is not

N
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In Morse v. !.'mf(d States, supra, 174 Fed, 539,
the defendant was convieted of the erime of mak- : |
ing false entries in the books of a bank. On appeal
it was contended that certain bank cntries made
by elerks in the bank were erroncously received
in evidence,  In affivming the convietion, the court
held that the admission of the evidener was proper
(pp. 547, H48):

that the defendant did not make

ST s true d o
any of the enfries in t
his own pen. All of
employ UM of the hm

“tine work @oip. 5471

e books or reports with
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““The entries in question found their way
to the boocks and reports because the defend-
ant set the machinery in motion which re-
quired the enfries to be made. He knew every
detail of the various transactions. They were
all devised, accepted, or engineered by him,
and the jury were justified in finding that the
entries werve Jal s¢, that the defendant knew
them to be false, :111({ that thev were made
with intent to deceive. [p. 04817

S0, also, the defendant Hines, by requesting the
magistrates to “take cave of”? the cases for him
(e.9.. 2046), “‘set the machinery in motion” and

Sdevised Y T or engineered ™ the diseharges and
also, In effeet, the rigging of the records neces

sary to lend a tone of legitimacey and legality to
the proceedings.  Being responsible for the way
in which the trials were conducted and for their
ultimate disposition, he cannot now complain of
their proof.

Morcover, since the records. themselves vwould
assist the jury in determining whether the magis-
trates had dismissed the eases upon the hasis of
their own judements or as a result of some out-
side corrupting influence, the evidence was com-
petent for the purpose ol corroborating the ae-
complice {estimony of Weinberg and Davis that

1% Yy 3 ey 1 . b Y orL TTrL .
the discharges had been ordered by Hines,

See: People vo Jackie (18%€

People v O°Neil {11 "{}opfé. TRRR) 48
ITan 36, off*d 1009 N Y. 251

Peaple v. Doule ((mn. Sess. NOOYL Qo

19193 }( 7 Mise. 268,

in the (2Nl ease, S PEE, 45 Hian a8, aif *d 108
NN 20T-—which arose ont of the same {ravsae-
tion as was mvolved in People v, Kerr, copra, 6
N.Y. Or. 406—-the General Term made a similar
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ruling as to the admissibility of the minutes of
the meeting of the Bo ard of Aldermen and de-
clared (pp. 41-42):

“It is a familiar rule of evidence that from
subsequent action the jury has the right to
infer the existence of a pre-existing tact. For
example, the declarations and eonduct of two
nen may be received in evidence for the pur-
pose of \Em\\m“ that at some prior date an
agreenient of ('up(ntnen} powas entered into
hotween thenn. So in the case at bar, for the
purpose of showing the previous agreement
i reference to the subject-matter ot this in-
dictment, the people had a vight to show the
sub\vqm nt action of the def (‘11(11111 and his
(}\(Ulullu(kn whieh n(] \Un‘* stond lﬂ {11(\
existence of the pr evious agreement, m;d from
which the previous agreement might be in-
ferred, bu:zmse upon proof that a man has
taken a bribe, it will not he di ﬁm‘st‘ to infer

that he had agreed to be bribed.

More particularly, this Court, which likewise
approved the introduction of the procecdings of
the Board of Aldermen, pointed out (108 N. Y,

at v. 265):

‘lr{‘ *
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ihe defendant, and tended to confirm the evi-
dence of the a(,compnces, and to =how that
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the dmonu(‘.m s vote on the tlo ool Au-
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oust, was in fulfillment of the corrupt agree-
ment eharged in the indietment.”’
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So, {oo, in the present case, the mintes of the

g%

tl
hearines tended to confirm the evidence of the

accomplices,” and to show that the dismissals
were in fnlfillment of the corrupt arrangement
between the magistrates and the defendant 1iimes.
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B. The trial court’s instructions with reference
to the proceedings in the Magistrates’ Court were
fair and proper.

The defendant complains at considerable length
{Defendant’s Brief, pp. 31-40) that ‘‘the Court
made the alleged legal impropriety of the dis-
missals in the Magistrates’ Court the dominant
issue in the ecase’” (Defendant’s Brief, pp. 35-
36), and that, under the trial court’s instructions,
the jury ““‘could infer the defendant’s guilt from
the mere fact that the charges had been improp-
erly dismissed by the Magistrates’” (Defendant’s
Brief, p. 38). These contentions are baseless and
cannot be supported by any fair interpretation of
the court’s charge.

By no streteh of the imagination could the jury
have considered themselves “‘an appellate tribunal
to sit in review of the legal propriety of the
Magistrates’ conelusions as to the sufficiency of
the evidence before them’” (Defendant’s Brief,
p. 40). Although Judge Nott explained to the
jury the elements constituting the erime of Pos-
sessing Poliey Slips, and set forth the evidence
that would justify a magistrate in holding pris-
oners charged with such erimes, this was solely
for the purpose of assisting them to determine
whether the magistrates had knowingly made a
wrong deeision upon the strength of Hines’ eor-
rupt request. Thus, in the charge, the impro-
~ priety of the dismissals was subordinated to the
question as fo whether Hines had caused the dis-
charges, and the evidence bearving upon such in-
propriety was held rvelevant only insofar as i
bore upon that issue.

In short, the jury were called upon fo determine
not whether the magisirates had acted wrong-
fullv or even corruptly, but whether the defend-
ant had procured them to act in that way. The

|
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court clearly instructed that if the jury found
that the defendant had not procured the magis-
trates to act corruptly, that was the end of the
matter, even though the magistrates’ decisions
might have been improper and erroneous. We
quote one or two illustrative excerpts (11215-8):

““We are not tryving the Magistrate; we are
trying the defendant. And this is only im-
portant as it bears on the defendant.

“You may say then, why is it all let m?
A Judge certainly is not to be deemed guilty
of impropriety or corruption, or anything
else because he makes a mistake in his law.
That would be a terrible thing * * *. [11215-6]

* * *

“The question is: Was the action of these
Judges procured by this defendant? * * *

‘‘On the other hand, if you assume that the
Judges, the Magistrates were entirely wrong,
not only in their decision, but wilfully so, if
the defendant did not secure that wilful mis-
conduct, he is not chargeable.

““The whole thing is whether he endeav-
ored to influence them and did influence
them to turn those cases out. [11217-=8}”

Again, said the court (11218-9):

““Now, keep that in mind. You ean see it
is of evidentiary value in the festimony. It
vou find that the Magistrates not only acted
mistakenly on the law but acted in a manner
that, in the case, they must have known that
they were wrong, making a wrong decision,
then, of course, vou must ask yourselves why
did they do that, IHd they do it hecause
defendant asked them to do it or did they
| it for some other reason which does not ap-
pear in the evidence? Therefove, as I say,
it has that evidentiary value, but you must
keep in mind, after all, the question is
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whether the defendant procured or endeav-
ored to procure a wrong decision there rather
than whether the Magistrates made it.”’
Finally, at the defendant’s request, the court
cautioned the jury that (11233-4):
""The burden of proving the defendant IHines
agreed to furnish protection as is charged
in the indietment and that he did 1;1Haencc,
intimidate or bribe Magistrate Capshaw,
Magistrate Erwin and Distriet Attorney
TWOdge is upon the prosceution.”

In conclusion, we point out that the court no-
where advised the jm‘v that 1}10\’ could find a cor-
rupt arrangement between Hines and the magis-
trates, even though they w\heiiﬂ’c Davis and
Weinberg and believed Judge Capshaw (Defend-
ant’s Brief, pp. 34-35). True, the defendant songht
a request upon the subjeet (11261), but it was
propervly vefused sinee (1) 1t was confused and 1u-
consistent, and (2) it concerned particular por-
tions of the evidence and the credibility of par-
ticular witnesses.,  As was stated in People v
MeCallam (1885) 3 N, Y. Or. 180, 198, aff "0 (1886)
103 N. Y. 587

“The counsel has no 1l separate par-
ticular portions uf fhe ovidence and ask the
court to hokd that such evidence may be trae
and the defendants still not guilty, that ﬂm
witness may have testified to the h:;t..;, and
the defendants still be innocent, ar that
jury ought not to convict if they do nol be
lieve certain TH“{\ of the evidence offered.™

IR S TN et 3
LY RUVISsea ﬁ‘ :

As a matter of fact, the
jury that they eould not
evidence—sueh as wore the rmnnw* of ﬁ o hwh»-
ings in the Magistrates™ Courte-unless they fivst

CarTe J'hci’?

found that the accomphees had festified truthiully
(11175, 11176-8, 11100-1, 11240.2).

| O
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POINT V

The transeript of testimony given by Wein-
berg at the prior trial was properly admitted
[In answer to Defendant’s Brief, Point VI,
pp. 63-71].

During the pendency of the second trial and
before he had been called to the stand, Weinberg,
a witness for the People, committed suicide. He
had been fully and exhaustively cross-examined
at the first trial. Under these circumstances, and
in accordance with section 8, subdivision 3(d),
of the Code of Criminal Procedure, the prose-
cution was permitted to read into the record a
transcript of his previous testimony. The de-
fendant’s claim that the statute does mot apply
because the former proceeding ended in a mis-
trial or because the witness conmmnitted suicide, iz
without substance.

The word ““trial” is unquestionably used in its
broad, generic sense. It carries with it no con-
notation that the proceeding should have resulted
in verdiet and judement. Thus, it is provided in
section 8, subdivision 3(d), that the testimony of
the deccased witness ““upon such prior trial’”’ is to
be read in evidence “‘upon any subsequent fricd™y
the reference to the subsequent “ty mI * of neces-
sity, means before the case is submitted to the
jury, and the same construetion must be given to
its prior use. In faet, it has been held that no

I

s exists for distinguishing between trial and

daad

mistrial under suech a statute.

basi

See: Taft v. Litile, (’W(H} 178 N. Y. 127
People v, Sehwars (1926) 78 (iﬂ;. ,;Xg.%g;u
561, 248 Pae. 990.

%
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People v. Schware, supra, 78 Cal. App. 561, 248
Pae. 990, is a case preecisely in point. There, un-
der a statute virtually the same as the one in New
York, the People were permitted to read to the
jury the testimony given previonsly by certain
absent witnesses.  Upon appeal, the court re-
jected the defendant’s contention that the prior
proceeding was not a ““former trial’? because it
had terminated in a mistrial, and held (78 Cal.
App., at p. 578, 248 Puaec.,, at pp. 996-997) :

““The legal distinction, if anv there be,
between a ‘fornier trial’ and a ‘mistrial,” as
applied to the instant controversy, is not in-
dicated by appellants, and we are aware of
none. * * * 1t is not denied that the wit-
nesses in question, upon the previous trial
of the same issues appeared in open court,
in the presence of the defendants, who either
in person or by counsel cross-examined them,
or had an opportunity to do so. This being
true, all the requirements of the statute were
satisfied.”’

The same result was reached in a eivil suit in
this state, under the corresponding and almost
identically worded provision of the Code of Civil
Procedure (§ 830, now § 348 of the Civil Praetice
Aet), in a situation not unlike the one now pre-
sented. In Taft v. Litile, cupra, 178 N, Y. 127,
the witness in question had, before his death, been
examined and cross-examined in a trial before o
referee. That proceeding was never formally for-
minated because the referee had died before all
of the evidence was submitted o him. The ease
was incomplete, therefore, and exactly like a mis
trial. The testimony of the decensed witness was
read info evidence upon a subsequent trial hefore
another referee, although ehicefion was made that

the former hearing was not o iriel within the
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meaning of the statute. TIn upholding the use of
the testimony, this Court said (p. 132):

¢ ¢The fundamental ground upon which evi-
dence given by a wils e, who afterwards
dies, may be read in evidence upon a subse-
quent trial, is that it was taken in an acti
or proceeding where the parties against whom
it is offered or their privies have had both
the right and the opportunity to cross-ex-
amine the witness as to the statement offered.’
(Young v. Valentine, 177 N. Y. 347.) Here the
defendant had full opportunity to cross-ex-
amine the witness, and availed himself of
it. We think that the former hearing was a
trial within the meaning and spirit of the
seetion quoted.”

These decisions arve In consonance with the
reason and purpose underlving the general rule.
The right of confrontation—whether statutory or
constitutional—nicans no more than that the de-
fendant shall have an opportunity,) at some poini
in the course of the procecdings, ] i
nesses against him foce o
amiine thenw [ People v Fisl
136, 102 Peaple v GGillinaley (7\{ Dept, 1‘3
App. Div, 234,237 Hattor v, United States ( .8“ 3
156 U, 8. 237, 242-243.7  That being the test,

S ; o~ 5 g H sy s 5 5 e
matters not how far the proceedings prog

nor how thev were %wm“n;z‘f’o& sz:@, in Pwm’
v. Poaliofleoe (Gon, T, 5th i\n I 12 Hun 103,
14

N
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38, eited ?5}' the ot m%z i (Defendant™s Brief,
pp. 66-67) is not in point. There, the eross-exam-
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ination of the particular witness, who later died,
had been interrupted and left incomplete at the
former trial. Under such circumstances, the ad-
mission of the testimony upon a subsequent trial
was clearly a deprivation of the right of full
cross-examination, and the decision of this Court
proceeded squarely upon that basis. Any in-
cidental language to the effect that the evidence
was inadmissible because there was no trial, but
a mistrial, must be disregarded, particularly in
view of the later decision of this Court in Taft
v. Lattle, supra, 178 N. Y. 127.

Nor is there any merit to the defendant’s argu-
ment that the trial court’s alleged refusal to
permit inquiry into the circumstances of Wein-
berg’s suicide constituted error. The statute
[Code Crim. Proc., §8, subd. 3(d)] simply pro-
vides that the prior testimonyv may be read in
evidence ‘‘upon its being satisfactorily shown to
the court that the witness is dead.”” That is the
sole requirement, and it was, of course, fully satis-
fied in this case. ‘

Indeed, the rvecord itself stamps the present
contention as an after-thought; there was no ob-
jection by the defendant to the court’s very
proper ruling that ‘‘no speculation as to the pos-
sible canses [of the sulcide] should he indulged
in by the jury?’ (2119).

At the trial, defense counsel desired to present
to the jury—mnot simply to the court—the eirveum-
stances surrounding Weinherg's death, so that,
by permitting the jury to speculate upon possible
reasons for the suicide, his testimony might be im-
pugned (see, e.g., 188002, 1806-9, 1006-13). T
was not ureed that examination info sueh eiveum-

i

stances should he a prerequisite to the admission
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of the former testimony; on the contrary, the two
matters were treated as separate and (hstmct
(1889, 1971).

The law that a deceased witness—whose prior
testimony is admitted—may not be impeached by
showing alleged contradictory or inconsistent
statements or alleged declarations that the prior
testimony was false, is well settled.

See: Hubbard v. Briggs (1865) 31 N. Y. 518,
536-537 4
Stacy v. Graham (1856) 14 N. Y. 492,
498.-501 ;
Mattox v. United States, supra, 156 U. 8.
237, 248-250;
People v. Seitz (1929) 100 Cal. App. 113,
279 Pae. 1070,

Accordingly, the court below had no alter-
native but to refuse to sanction any attempted
impeachment of the deceased witness., Nor was
objection taken to this ruling. Rather, the trial
court’s announcement and instruction (2117-21)
were made with the apparent counsent and ap-
.proval of the parties (1978-86).

Motes v. United States (1900) 1 . 8. 438,
upon which the defendant piac( whdnc@ {(De-
fendant’s Brief, pp. 69-70), is inapplicable. Not
only is there no federal statute comparable to
section 8, subdivision 3(d), of the Code of Crim-
inal Procedure, but the witness’ absence in that
case was due to an illegal act by a govermment
agent (p. 471) and, further, might have been
remedied by the exercise of reasonable diligence,
for the witness had been seen just outside the
courtroom only an hour before his name was
called (pp. 468, 474},
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The defendant has sought to bring the present
case within certain language found in the Motes
decision, supra, 178 U. 8. 458, but in so doing, he
has misstated the facts relating to the present
case. At page 71 of the defendant’s brief appears
the false assertion that Weinbere'’s death was
attributable to ““improper acts on the part of the
People’s representatives.”” Suffice it to point out
that the statement is without support in the rvee-
ord and is completely at variance with the actual
facts. Weinberg was entrusted to the custody
of the distriet attorney by express orvder of the
Supreme Court, and every reasonable and proper
precaution was taken to insure his availability as
a witness at the sccond trial.

In view of the fact that Weinberg was cross-
examined at great length and with complete
freedom upon the first frial, Hines was accorded
his full right of confrontation and the eventual
outecome of the prior proceeding was ilmmaterial.
The finding of a verdict would have added noth-
ing to the full opportunity of eross-examination
that the defendant had and exereised.

Conclusion

The aunthorities eleavly establish that the enfor-
prise operated daily by the defendant and his
fellow conspirators was a lottery and properiv
prosecuted under section 1372 of the Ponal Law,
The defendant’s activities—which continued to
well within two vears of the filing of the indiet-
ment—in forestalling the effective invesiication,
arrvest, and proseeution of his accomplices, were

essential to the continned oneration of the con-
spiracy and {o the daily commission of ihe sub-
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stantive crimes thereby contemplated. The de-
fendant was therefore clearly guilty of aiding,
abetting, and assisting in the commission of the
several crimes charged in the indictment.

After a fair trial, the jury, having considered
the evidence pursuant to the impartial instruc-
tions of an experienced and able trial judge,
found against the defendant upon every issue.

The judgment of conviction should be
affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Troyas B. DeEwey
District dttorney
New York County

Stanvey H. FuLp
Assistant Distriet Attorney
Burr F. CoLEMAN
WarrMmany Knsprp
Deputy Assistant Distriet Attorneys
Of Counsel




